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Note 2015 
$’000 

 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Cash flow from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  520,954 410,142 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (464,980) (342,758) 

Payments to former owners  (2,592) - 

Interest received 4(a) 2,294 401 

Borrowing costs  (8,865) (5,344) 

Income tax paid 6 (6,049) (8,006) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 23(b) 40,762 54,435 

    
Cash flow from investing activities    

Payment for software development  (9,166) (1,485) 

Payment for plant and equipment  (13,142) (3,284) 

Costs associated with acquisition of businesses  (23,662) (4,054) 

Costs associated with originating loans  (9,464) - 

Payment for acquisition of businesses, net of cash in subsidiaries  (1,333,973) (98,464) 

Payment for acquisition of businesses – deferred consideration  (14,720) (18,309) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,404,127) (125,596) 

    
Cash flow from financing activities    

Proceeds from share issue 19 890,939 - 

Repayment to related parties  (469) - 

Costs of raising equity  (18,438) (120) 

Proceeds from related parties and employees   3,825 5,247 

Proceeds from borrowings  594,068 154,770 

Repayment of borrowings  (43,966) (73,695) 

Dividends paid  (15,924) (9,907) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  1,410,035 76,295 

    

Net increase in cash held  46,670 5,134 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  25,045 80 

Cash at beginning of financial year  25,270 20,056 

Cash at end of financial year 23(a) 96,985 25,270 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies adopted by the consolidated entity in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report 

Slater and Gordon Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The consolidated 
financial statements comprise the Company and its controlled entities referred to in Note 30, together referred to as the 
Group and individually as Group Entities.   

This financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Slater and Gordon Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.  

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors as at the date of the Directors’ Report. 

Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of Slater and Gordon Limited also comply with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

Historical cost convention 

The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to fair value for 
certain classes of assets as described in the accounting policies. 

Significant accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial report requires the use of certain estimates and judgements in applying the entity’s 
accounting policies. Those estimates and judgements significant to the financial report are disclosed in Note 2. 

Going concern 

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.  

(b) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising the financial statements of the 
parent entity and of all entities which the parent entity controls. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent 
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies which may exist.  

All inter-company balances and transactions, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on 
consolidation. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is established and are de-recognised from 
the date that control ceases. 

Non-controlling interests in the results of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position.  

Any changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(c) Revenue  

Rendering of services  

It is the Group’s policy to recognise revenue in accordance with the revenue recognition criteria described in AASB 118 
Revenue. 

Revenue from rendering of services to customers is recognised upon delivery of the service to the customer. The 
majority of revenue from services is comprised of fees billed, with the remaining amount representing movement in work 
in progress and services revenue. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will 
flow to the entity and that revenue can be reliably measured. The Group measures revenue at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable.  

The Group has implemented practice standards within each region to monitor the progression of individual cases, and 
thereby to determine the likely outcome of the transaction. The practice standards are based on the Group’s significant 
depth of experience in progressing the various types of legal work undertaken to conclusion. 

The Group renders the following key services to customers: 

• provision of legal services for personal injury claims; 
• provision of services for general law incorporating project litigation; and 
• provision of legal and complementary services from SGS, acquired from Quindell Plc on 29 May 2015. Refer to 

Business Combinations Note 31.   

Revenue resulting from work in progress movement 

Revenue includes the difference in Work In Progress value between reporting periods. The revenue recognised excludes 
the net movement in Work In Progress contributed by the acquisition of client matters arising from a business 
combination or file specific acquisition.   

In relation to Personal Injury legal matters, the Group identifies individual contracts at a similar stage of completion. This 
means that the rights and obligations contained in each contract do not vary materially from one contract to another in 
each category of work that the Group typically performs for clients. 

The measurement of this component of revenue is based upon: 

• the estimate of fees upon completion of the matter; 
• the probability of the success of the matter; and 
• the percentage of completion of the matter. 

On an individual client matter basis this means that as Work in Progress increases on a client matter, the increase in 
Work in Progress is recorded as a revenue item. When a matter is finalised, the full amount of the actual fees for 
services is invoiced or billed to the client and recorded as revenue. This is then offset by the work in progress matter 
being written back to nil (recognised as a negative revenue amount) neutralising the previously recorded revenue. 

Provision of legal and other services resulting from Slater Gordon Solutions 

Legal Services 

These services relate to road traffic accident (“RTA”), employee liability/public liability (“ELPL”) and noise induced 
hearing loss (“NIHL”) cases. Revenue is recognised by stage of completion, consistent with the treatment outlined above 
for provision of services from personal injury claims.    

Other services include replacement vehicle hire, vehicle repair, provision of medical reports and rehabilitation. 

Vehicle hire and repair  

Revenue relating to car hire, repair and claims management services is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
receivable, net of Value Added Tax (“VAT”) and other sales taxes. Revenue is recognised when services are provided, 
including an appropriate proportion of any services that are in progress at the reporting date. It is recognised only when it 
can be estimated reliably.  
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(c) Revenue (continued) 

Hire revenue is recognised on a stage of completion basis as it is accrued on a daily basis for each day that the vehicle 
is on the road with the client. Revenue and costs are accrued on each specific vehicle at the GTA (the Association of 
British Insurers General Terms of Agreement for credit hire arrangements) or contracted rates. 

The benefit of the service to the customer is generated over time and the ability to estimate the stage of completion is 
high given it is based on actual days and known rates. 

Vehicle repair revenue is recognised on a ‘significant act’ basis whereby the significant act is the completion of a repair. 
At this point the obligation is fulfilled. The corresponding cost of repair is also recognised at this point. 

Administration fee revenue on car hire/repair as set under the GTA is recognised at the start of the respective service. 

Medical Reports and Services  

Revenue is earned from the procurement of medical reports and other services. 

The instructing party will request SGS to procure a service. An appointment is arranged with a third party medical 
practitioner. The significant event for revenue recognition is considered to be the attendance at the appointment of the 
instructing party’s client. At this point there is certainty over the outcome. Therefore, medical reports revenue is 
recognised once an appointment has been attended as this is considered to be the significant act in accordance with 
AASB 118.  

Rehabilitation Services 

Revenue is recognised when the initial assessment appointment has been attended as this is considered to be the 
‘significant act’. The medical practitioner will confirm the course of treatment required in the initial assessment. For 
rehabilitation, the instructing party is liable for the costs as they have instructed the services on behalf of an individual.  

Interest Revenue 

Interest revenue is recognised when it becomes receivable on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates 
applicable to the financial assets. 

Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue has been established. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”) or UK equivalent value added tax (“VAT”). 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on 
the consolidated statement of financial position. For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding banking overdrafts. 

(e) Disbursements  

Disbursements are only recognised when it is assessed that a reimbursement will be received from the client or on his or 
her behalf. The disbursements are treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the expected reimbursement 
does not exceed the relevant costs incurred.  

The amount of any expected reimbursement is reduced by an allowance for non-recovery based on past experience. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount from those assets. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use. Value in use is based on estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a post-tax 
discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Depreciation 

Land is not depreciated.  

The depreciable amounts of all other property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease 
term.  

The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are: 

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rates Depreciation method 

Plant and equipment 5.00 – 66.67% Straight Line and Diminishing Value 

Low value asset pool 18.75 – 37.50% Diminishing value 

An asset’s residual value and useful life is reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount. Any impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.  

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses 
are included in the profit or loss. 

(g) Leases 

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership. 

Finance leases 

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the asset, but not the 
legal ownership, are transferred to the consolidated entity are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are 
capitalised, recording an asset and liability equal to the fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, including any guaranteed residual values. The interest expense is calculated using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease and is included in finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income. Leased assets are depreciated on 
a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely the consolidated entity will obtain ownership of the 
asset, or over the term of the lease. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the 
lease interest expense for the period. 

Operating leases 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives under operating leases are 
recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. 

(h) Work in progress (“WIP”) 

Work in progress represents client cases which have not yet reached a conclusion and comprises personal injury cases, 
services performed ancillary to personal injury cases, non-personal injury cases and project litigation cases.  

The Group allocates work in progress between current and non-current classifications based on a historical analysis of 
the Group’s work in progress balances and velocity rates to determine expected timing of settlements.  Refer Note 1(w) 
regarding changes to account classification during the financial year ended 30 June 2015.  

Work in progress arising from legal services performed by Slater and Gordon Lawyers 

Work in progress is carried at either cost or it may include profit recognised to date based on the value of work 
completed. The following are the methodologies adopted for each division in determining the value of work in progress: 
Personal Injury Law work in progress 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(h) Work in progress (“WIP”) (continued) 

Personal injury law work in progress is measured using the regional practice standards applicable to each region 
established by the Group to determine the stage of completion using a methodology: 

a) to examine the nature and extent of work performed for individual cases; and 

b) to identify services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed. 

The regional practice standards incorporate value pricing and fixed fee valuations, applying a probability of success 
factor, making allowance for the “No Win No Fee” conditional fee arrangements, under which the Personal Injury practice 
operates. 

The Group conducts a detailed review of the stage of completion calculations for all cases on a half-yearly basis. When 
necessary, the Group revises the estimates of revenue for the services performed. The need for such revisions does not 
necessarily indicate that the outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably, rather it implicitly includes some 
estimation uncertainty. (Refer Note 2(b) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments – Work in progress.) 

General Law work in progress 

For estate, probate, industrial law, commercial law and funded project litigation matters, time records and historical levels 
of fees billed are used in determining the value of work completed. 

Project litigation work in progress 

Project litigation matters are defined as any matters where total professional fees and/or disbursements are likely to 
exceed $1.0 million over the course of the conduct of the matter(s).  

Work in progress in project litigation matters is recognised on self-funded project litigation matters for which a favourable 
outcome is considered probable. For such projects, work in progress is initially valued at costs incurred less a discount 
for the likely recovery of those costs. Cost includes both variable and fixed costs directly related to cases and those that 
can be attributed to case activity and that can be allocated to specific projects on a reasonable basis. Where a project 
litigation matter has reached partial or full settlement and an enforceable agreement to recover the professional fees 
exists, work in progress is valued at the settled fee amount and discounted for percentage file completion, and the 
probability of the full fee being collected. Project litigation matters that are not expected to be realised within twelve 
months are classified as non-current.  

Work in progress arising from services provided by Slater Gordon Solutions  

Legal Services 

Revenue from work in progress from non-hearing loss files (RTA, ELPL) is recognised based on the following key 
milestones on a matter. 

i) Validation – this is the initial stage of the case; 

ii) Collation pre-med – matters with claim notification form (“CNF”) submitted, but pre-receipt of medical report; 

iii) Collation post-med – medical report received, but prior to submission of settlement pack; 

iv) Valuation – settlement pack submitted, but prior to issue of proceedings; and 

v) Issue – post issue of proceedings. 

The measurement of this component of revenue is consistent with the Group approach for valuing WIP based on 
average fees, probability of success and percentage completion. 

No value of work in progress has been recognised for Noise Induced Hearing Loss (“NIHL”) files as the amount of 
revenue cannot at this stage (30 June 2015) be measured reliably.   
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(h) Work in progress (“WIP”) (continued) 

Vehicle hire and repair 

Work in progress is recognised for the following transactions:  

i) Incomplete WIP – where a car hire is still in use; and 

ii) Billing not completed – this occurs where the car hire has been returned or repairs completed where the invoice is 
still outstanding (due to the time period required for all documentation to be in place before it is issued). 

Work in progress is recognised based on the probable inflow of economic benefits flowing to the entity which occurs 
before settlement by the insurer. Settlement could take considerable time to recover. A dilution rate is applied on the 
invoice to recognise the fact that there may be a settlement adjustment with the insurer if the insurer disputes any costs. 
This also takes into account the fact that some cases may not be ‘no fault’. 

Medical reports and rehabilitation services 

Work in progress is recognised when an appointment has been attended. The amount will remain in work in progress 
until the discharge form has been received at which point the rehabilitation service is invoiced. This value remains in 
work in progress until the number of sessions required is known at which point the invoice is raised.  

Work in progress is calculated based on the average amount charged out, based on historic cases less a historic dilution 
factor applied to reflect the fact that not all amounts will be billed. 

For medical reports, the work in progress balance is calculated when the appointment is attended. 

(i) Business combinations 

A business combination is a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more businesses 
and results in the consolidation of the assets and liabilities acquired. Business combinations are accounted for by 
applying the acquisition method. 

The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquired. Deferred consideration payable is 
measured at fair value. Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date 
fair value. 

Goodwill is recognised initially at the excess over the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the fair value of the 
non-controlling interest, and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (in case of step 
acquisition), less the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

If the fair value of the acquirer's interest is greater than the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the fair value of 
the non-controlling interest, and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (in case of 
step acquisition), the gain is immediately recognised in the profit or loss as gain from bargain purchases. 

In conjunction with the business combination transaction there may be a transfer of assets between controlled entities as 
part of restructuring the acquired business. The parent accounts for such transfers through reallocation of the cost of the 
investments in its statement of financial position. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Refer to Note 1(w) for the accounting policy change in respect of accounting for business combinations. 

(j) Intangibles and goodwill  

Software development costs 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

Development costs are capitalised when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and 
technical feasibility; the entity is able to use or sell the asset; the entity has sufficient resources and intent to complete 
the development and its costs can be measured reliably. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using a straight-line method to allocate the cost of the intangible 
assets over their estimated useful lives.  Amortisation commences when the intangible asset is available for use. 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(j) Intangibles and goodwill (continued) 

Software development costs are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.  
These assets have been assessed as having a finite useful life and once operating in the Group are amortised over the 
useful life of 5-8 years. 

Trademarks and Brand names 

Trademarks acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their 
fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). The fair value of trademarks is based on the 
discounted estimated royalty payments that have been avoided as a result of the trademark being owned. 

Trademarks are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Trademarks that 
have been assessed as having a finite useful life are amortised over their finite life.  

Brand names acquired as part of the acquisition of Slater Gordon Solutions have been carried at cost. These brand 
names have been assessed as having an indefinite useful life, therefore no amortisation is applicable. 

Customer relationships 

The fair value of customer relationships acquired in a business combination is determined using the multi-period excess 
earnings method, whereby the subject asset is valued after deducting a fair return on all other assets that are part of 
creating the related cash flows. They are assessed as having a finite useful life and are amortised over their useful life. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess over the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the fair value (or 
proportionate share of net assets value) of the non-controlling interest, and the acquisition date fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest (in case of step acquisition), less the fair value of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  

Goodwill is not amortised, but is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Goodwill, intangible assets not yet ready for use and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to 
amortisation and are therefore tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Assets subject to annual depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances arise that indicates that the carrying amount of the asset may be impaired.  

An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 

For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units). 

(l) Taxation 

Taxation consists of income tax, Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) and Value Added Tax (“VAT”). 

Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  

Current tax 

Current income tax expense or benefit is the tax payable / receivable on the current period's taxable income based on 
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences and unused tax loses. The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Group operates and 
generates taxable income.  
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(l) Taxation (continued) 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the applicable tax rates when the assets 
are expected to be recovered or liabilities are settled. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. Unrecognised deferred 
tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date. 

Current and deferred tax for the year are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises 
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination. 

Tax consolidation (applicable to Australian entities only) 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian domiciled entities except for Slater & Gordon Lawyers listed in Note 30 
have implemented the tax consolidation legislation and have formed a tax-consolidated group from 28 April 2011. As a 
consequence, the Company and its controlled entities which comprise the tax consolidated group are taxed as a single 
entity.  New Australian domiciled entities acquired during the current year have joined the tax consolidation group from 
the date of acquisition (refer to Note 31).  The head entity within the tax consolidated group is Slater and Gordon Limited.  
The parent entity and subsidiaries in the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement such that 
each entity in the tax-consolidated group recognises the assets, liabilities, expenses and revenue in relation to its own 
transactions, events and balances only. This means that: 

• the parent entity recognises all current and deferred tax amounts relating to its own transactions, events and 
balances only; 

• the subsidiaries recognise current or deferred tax amounts arising in respect of their own transactions, events and 
balances; 

• current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising in respect of tax losses are transferred from the subsidiary to the 
head entity as inter-company payables or receivables. 

 
The tax-consolidated group also has a tax sharing agreement in place to limit the liability of subsidiaries in the tax-
consolidated group arising under the joint and several liability requirements of the tax consolidation system. No amounts 
have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement on the basis that the possibility of default 
is remote. 

Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) and Value Added Tax (“VAT”) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST/VAT, except where the GST/VAT incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”), UK Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) or Malta 
Inland Revenue (“MIR”) and is therefore recognised as part of the asset’s cost or as part of the expense item. 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST/VAT. 

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO/HMRC/MIR is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST/VAT component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed net of the amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant taxation authority. 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(m) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result in an amount that can be reliably measured. 

A provision for solicitor liability claims is made for the potential future cost of claims brought against the Group by former 
clients. The provision is determined by including the estimated maximum amount payable by the Group under its 
Professional Indemnity Insurance Policy on all claims notified to its insurer. 

(n) Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations 

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled 
within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts based on remuneration rates which are 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of 
compensated absences such as annual leave and accumulated sick leave is recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables. 

Long-term employee benefit obligations  

The provision for employee benefits in respect of long service leave and annual leave payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. These 
estimated future cash flows have been discounted using market yields, at the reporting date, on corporate bonds with 
matching terms to maturity. 

Employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if the 
entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, 
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 

Defined contribution superannuation plan 

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans in respect of employee services rendered 
during the year. These superannuation contributions are recognised as an expense in the same period when the 
employee services are received. 

Bonus plan  

The Group recognises a provision when a bonus is payable in accordance with the employee’s contract of employment 
and the amount can be reliably measured.  

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable when employment of an employee or group of employees is terminated before the 
normal retirement date, or when the entity provides termination benefits as a result of an offer made and accepted in 
order to encourage voluntary redundancy.  

The Group recognises a provision for termination benefits when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of those 
benefits, or if earlier, when the termination benefits are included in a formal restructuring plan that has been announced 
to those affected by it. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, then they 
are discounted and presented as non-current liabilities.  

(o) Share-based payment transactions 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the grant date. 

The consolidated entity operates share-based payment employee share and option schemes. The fair value of the equity 
to which employees become entitled is measured at grant date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, 
with a corresponding increase to an equity account. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled 
share-based transactions are set out in Note 27. In respect of share-based payments that are dependent on the 
satisfaction of performance conditions, the number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at 
each reporting date. The amount recognised for services received as consideration for these equity instruments granted 
is adjusted to reflect the best estimate of the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(o) Share-based payment transactions (continued) 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured 

at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty 
renders the service. 

The Group operates an Employee Ownership Plan (“EOP”). The EOP allows employees to purchase Vesting Convertible 
Redeemable (“VCR”) shares in the Company by way of an interest-free loan. Per the policy, the loan has been recorded 
as a financial instrument.  

• The VCR shares vest over a specified period of time. At the time of vesting, VCR shares convert into ordinary shares 
with disposal restrictions. The terms and conditions of these shares are further described at Note 27. 

• The value of the benefit received by an employee from issue of the VCR shares is assessed as the difference 
between the value of the VCR shares at the date of issue and the present value of the amount payable by the 
employee for purchase of the VCR shares. In accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment, the benefit is 
expensed on a proportional basis over the period from issue date to the date on which the employee becomes 
unconditionally entitled to the full benefit of ownership of the shares. 

In 2015 the Equity Incentive Plan (“EIP”) has been introduced to replace the EOP without prejudice to the rights of 
current participants in the EOP. Refer to Note 27 for more details.  

(p) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs can include interest expense, finance charges in respect of finance leases, amortisation of discounts or 
premiums, ancillary costs relating to borrowings, and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to 
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.  

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period which they are incurred, except for borrowing costs incurred as part of the 
cost of the construction of a qualifying asset which are capitalised until the asset is ready for its intended use or sale. 

(q) Financial instruments  

Classification 

The Group has financial instruments in the following category: loans and receivables. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the instruments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial instruments 
at initial recognition. 

Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments consist of investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs (if 
any), except for instruments recorded at fair value through profit or loss. After initial recognition, non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described below.  

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-interest bearing, non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. The loans are initially recognised based on fair value plus directly attributable 
transactions costs and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets are tested for impairment at each financial year end to establish whether there is any objective evidence 
of impairment.  
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(q) Financial instruments (continued) 

For loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost, impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The amount 

of the loss reduces the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. The impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss if the amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised.  

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities include trade payables, other creditors and loans from third parties including loans from or other 
amounts due to director-related entities.  

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments and 
amortisation. 

Non-interest bearing financial liabilities for deferred cash consideration on the acquisition of acquired firms is measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The implied interest expense is recognised in profit and loss. 

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group designates certain derivatives as either: 

• hedges of fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or 

• hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges). 

The Group currently has cash flow hedges only, relating to interest rate risk management. At the inception of the 
transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the Group’s risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions are documented. It is the Group’s policy to hedge a 
portion of its exposure in order to minimise the impact of an adverse change in interest rates that the Group is subject to. 

Assessments, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flow hedged 
items, are also documented. 

Fair value hedge 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, together with any changes in the fair value of hedged assets or 
liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedge 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in a hedge reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Amounts accumulated in the hedge reserve in equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit and loss. 

(r) Segment reporting 

Determination and presentation of operating segments 

The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is internally provided to the 
Group Managing Director, who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(s) Foreign currency translations and balances  

components. All operating segment results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Managing Director to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance. Refer to Note 3 for details on how 
management determines the operating segments.  

Segment results that are reported to the Group Managing Director include items directly attributable to a segment, as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements of each entity within the consolidated entity are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars which is the consolidated entity’s functional and presentation currency.  

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the consolidated group are translated into functional currency at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction except for the foreign operations disclosed below. 

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date (other than monetary items arising under 
foreign currency contracts where the exchange rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are translated using 
the spot rate at the end of the financial year. 

Except for certain foreign currency hedges, all resulting exchange differences arising on settlement or re-statement are 
recognised as revenues and expenses for the financial year.  

Foreign operations 

Entities that have a functional currency different to the presentation currency are translated as follows: 

• assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate on reporting date; 

• income and expenses are translated at actual exchange rates or average exchange rates for the period, unless the 
exchange rate fluctuated significantly during the period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions are used; and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, a separate component of equity. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.  

(t) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated as net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company divided 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

(u) Comparatives  

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year 
disclosures.  

Comparatives have also been updated for changes in accounting policies as described in Note 1(w) below. 

(v) Rounding of amounts  

The parent entity and the consolidated entity have applied the relief available under ASIC Class Order CO 98/0100 and 
accordingly, amounts in the consolidated financial statements and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.  



82   Annual Report 2015Slater and Gordon Limited  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

Slater and Gordon Limited 
  Page 61 

Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(w) Changes in accounting policies adopted by the Group 

Change to accounting for business combinations  

The Group has reassessed its accounting treatment of deferred consideration payable in the context of its acquisition of 
legal service practices. This reassessment has taken into account an analysis of historical acquisitions in Australia and 
the United Kingdom where cash and share-based consideration payable to the vendor principals of businesses acquired 
by the Group is deferred. 

Historically, all cash payments and share issues to vendors, whether restrained, deferred, contingent or otherwise, have 
been treated as consideration for the relevant business acquisition. 

The Group has now carefully considered the appropriate treatment of these payments in light of the evolving 
interpretation of AASB 3 Business Combinations with regard to the treatment of specific components of deferred 

consideration. 

An assessment has been made in relation to those arrangements that include contingent consideration to vendors of the 
business that are subject to so-called “bad leaver” provisions.   

Included in the terms of a number of purchase agreements entered into by the Group is an arrangement whereby the 
payment of cash consideration to and/or the retention of share-based consideration by the vendors of acquired entities is 
contingent upon the relevant vendors remaining with the Group for a defined period.  If a vendor ceases to remain with 
the Group for the prescribed period, the vendor may forfeit its entitlement to payment of the cash consideration and/or its 
ability to retain its share-based consideration, at the discretion of the Group. 

In light of the evolving interpretation of AASB 3 within the accounting profession, we now take the view that such 
arrangements will be deemed to be “separate transactions” for accounting purposes, the effect of which is that they are 
treated as payments to former owners, to be expensed in accordance with other applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

The effect of these changes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 is outlined as follows:  

Impact on consolidated comprehensive income of 
the restatement of business acquisition accounting 

30/06/2014              
(Previously reported) 

$’000 Restatements $’000 

30/06/2014   
(Restated)            

$’000 

Gain from bargain purchase 
                                         

-                  19,762               19,762  

Payments to former owners 
                                       

-            (3,651)           (3,651) 

Share based payment expense to former owners -                (5,379)              (5,379) 

Finance cost – decrease                          (8,412) 566               (7,846) 

Income tax expense – increase (23,344)                                                 (4,167)            (27,511) 

        

Profit for the year – increase 
                             

61,105 7,131                68,236  

        

Profit for the year attributable to:       

Owners of the Company – increase 60,946                                               7,074               68,020  

Non-controlling interests – increase 159 57                                             216  

    

Increase in other comprehensive income, net of tax 5,387 139 5,526 

    

Increase in other comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to:    

Owners of the Company 66,326 7,213 73,539 

Non-controlling interests  166                      57 223 

    

Effect on basic earnings per share (cents)  
                                

30.30                       3.50  33.80  

Effect on diluted earnings per share (cents)  
                                

29.80  3.40  33.20  
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(w) Changes in accounting policies adopted by the Group (continued) 

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at                       
30 June 2014 

30/06/2014              
(Previously reported) 

$’000 Restatements $’000 

30/06/2014             
(Restated)            

$’000 

Work in progress - decrease 473,339                (6,005)* 467,334** 

Intangible assets - decrease 130,190                (6,535)* 123,655 

Deferred tax assets - decrease 26,985 (4,721) 22,264 

Payables – decrease 214,037              (16,125) 197,912 

Current tax liability – increase 1,960                    521 2,481 

Current provisions – increase 16,468                   3,656  20,124 

Deferred tax liability – decrease 124,604 (983) 123,621 

        

Share capital – decrease 233,638              (16,589) 217,049 

Reserves – increase 9,090 5,127  14,217 

Retained profits – increase 180,139                7,074  187,213 

Non-controlling interest - increase 214 57 271 
 
*Includes the impact of the finalisation of acquisition accounting for Pannone of $6,005,000 decrease in WIP and $1,110,000 increase in 
intangible assets.  
**Additional restatements to reclassify the WIP balance between current and non-current are discussed below.  

Classification of Work In Progress and Disbursements 

Historically, all of the Group’s work in progress and disbursement balances have been classified as current assets in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, with the exception of the work in progress of the Group’s Project Litigation 
practice which included a current and non-current component. The work in progress on the Group’s Personal Injury Law 
(“PIL”) matters were historically assessed as being capable of being resolved at any stage of the matters process and 
therefore all work in progress and disbursements on PIL matters were classified as current assets in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

The Group has reassessed the classification of its work in progress and disbursement balances in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015.  A historical analysis of the Group’s work in progress balances and 
historical file velocity rates were used to form a view on the expected timing of settlements. The Group carefully 
considered the appropriate accounting as to this analysis and the applicable Australian Accounting Standards.  

As a result of this reassessment, the Group has made adjustments to the presentation of its work in progress and 
disbursement balances to include a current and non-current classification in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2015. The Group has also reclassified comparative balances in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2014 to assist users in reviewing trends across the two reporting periods. It is not 
practicable to restate earlier periods. 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(w) Changes in accounting policies adopted by the Group (continued) 

The effect of these changes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 is outlined as follows:  

Impact on Work in Progress balance as at          
30 June 2014 

30/06/2014              
(Previously reported) 

$’000 Restatements $’000 

30/06/2014             
(Restated)            

$’000 

Current assets    

Non-personal injury 16,412 (1,681) 14,731 

Personal injury 453,091 (190,856) 262,235 

Project litigation 1,106 - 1,106 

 470,609 (192,537) 278,072 

Non-current assets    

Non-personal injury - - - 

Personal injury - 186,532 186,532 

Project litigation 2,730 - 2,730 

 2,730 186,532 189,262 

 

Impact on Disbursement balance as at                    
30 June 2014 

30/06/2014              
(Previously reported) 

$’000 Restatements $’000 

30/06/2014             
(Restated)            

$’000 

Current assets    

Disbursements 133,927 (51,857) 82,070 

Allowance for non-recovery (7,717) 6,173 (1,544) 

 126,210 (45,684) 80,526 

Non-current assets    

Disbursements - 51,857 51,857 

Allowance for non-recovery - (6,173) (6,173) 

 - 45,684 45,684 

 
(x) Adoption of new and amended accounting standards 

The Group has adopted all the new mandatory standards and interpretations for the current reporting period. The 
adoption of these standards and interpretations did not result in a material change on the reported results and position of 
the Group, other than as identified in Note 1(w), as they did not result in any changes to the Group’s existing accounting 
policies. 

(y) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective at 30 June 2015 

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 

AASB 15 is operative for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. AASB 15 specifies the 
accounting for an individual contract with a customer, also recognising that the requirements of the standard may be 
applied to a portfolio of contracts for performance obligations with similar characteristics, if the entity reasonably expects 
that the effects on the financial statements of applying the standard to the portfolio would not differ materially from 
applying this standard to the individual contracts (or performance obligations) within that portfolio. 

AASB 15 introduces a five step process for revenue recognition with the core principle being for entities to recognise 
revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, 
payment) to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The five step approach is as 
follows: 

• Step 1: Identify the contracts with the customer; 

• Step 2: Identify the separate performance obligations; 

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price; 
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Note 1:  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
(y) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective at 30 June 2015 (continued) 

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price; and 

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.  

AASB 15 will also result in enhanced disclosures in relation to revenue, provide guidance for transactions that were not 
previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve guidance 
for multiple-element arrangements. 

The Group currently determines the stage of completion based on a methodology which identifies services performed to 
date as a percentage of total services to be performed for an outcome to be rendered in the case. 

A thorough reassessment of the valuation methodology within all practice areas in each region is being undertaken to 
determine the full impact of the standard.  The evaluation is in progress at the time of reporting and will be completed to 
facilitate the Group’s intended early adoption of AASB 15 in the financial year ending 30 June 2016. 

AASB 9 Financial instruments 

Significant revisions to the classification and measurement of financial assets, reducing the number of categories and 
simplifying the measurement choices, including the removal of impairment testing of assets measured at fair value. The 
amortised cost model is available for debt assets meeting both business model and cash flow characteristics tests. All 
investments in equity instruments using AASB 9 are to be measured at fair value.  

Chapter 6 Hedge Accounting supersedes the general hedge accounting requirements in AASB 139 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which many consider to be too rules-based and arbitrary. Chapter 6 
requirements include a new approach to hedge accounting that is intended to more closely align hedge accounting with 
risk management activities undertaken by entities when hedging financial and non-financial risks. Some of the key 
changes from AASB 139 are as follows:  

• to allow hedge accounting of risk components of non-financial items that are identifiable and measurable (many of 
which were prohibited from being designated as hedged items under AASB 139);  

• changes in the accounting for the time value of options, the forward element of a forward contract and foreign-
currency basis spreads designated as hedging instruments; and  

• modification of the requirements for effectiveness testing (including removal of the ‘brightline’ effectiveness test that 
offset for hedging must be in the range 80%-125%).  

Revised disclosures about an entity’s hedge accounting have also been added to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures. 

Impairment of assets is now based on expected losses in AASB 9 which requires entities to measure:  

• the 12-month expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from those default events on the financial 
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date); or  

• full lifetime expected credit losses (expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the life of 
the financial instrument. 

The effective date is annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

AASB 9 is expected to be applied when it becomes effective. 
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Note 2:  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively. The areas involving significant estimates or judgements are: 

(a) Impairment of goodwill  

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (“CGU’s”) according to applicable business operations. CGUs for the 
purposes of impairment testing are: 

1. Australia – Personal Injury Law  (“AUS – PIL”) 
2. Australia – General Law (“AUS – GL”)  
3. UK – Personal Injury Law (“UK – PIL”) 
4. UK – General Law (“UK – GL”) 
5. Slater Gordon Solutions (“SGS”) 

During the current financial year the Group acquired several new entities within Australia and the UK, as a result of the 
significant geographical expansion of the Group and expansion of business activities; additional CGUs have been 
identified and the Group now allocates the UK subsidiaries into two CGUs being UK - PIL and UK - GL.  SGS has been 
identified as its own CGU due to the different revenue streams and independent cash flows. 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires management to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Where 
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. Refer to Note 13. 

(b) Work in progress (“WIP”) 

WIP is the balance of cases not yet billed at the end of the reporting period. The Group measures WIP based on the 
estimated fees likely to be rendered to the client multiplied by the percentage stage of completion at the reporting date 
adjusted for the probability of success. To determine the probability of success of a case the Group takes into account 
past history of similar cases and a level of judgement is required based on experience and historical performance of 
similar matters. Refer to Note 10. 

The stage of completion valuation methodology incorporates best estimates of expected revenue and the percentage of 
total services completed to date. The expected revenue is based on the expected fee for the nature of the legal service 
provided with reference to internal and external (where available) historical and forecast fee levels. The percentage of 
completion and probability of success is made with reference to internal and external (where available) information and 
experience, and having regard to where a file is in its life cycle. 

The Group conducts detailed reviews of all case files on a half-yearly basis and revises calculations based on estimates 
of revenue and stage of completion as necessary. While the Group remains satisfied that the valuation methodology 
applied to work in progress is robust and supported by historical trends, it acknowledges that the actual amount billed 
may vary from the estimated amounts previously recognised. However, the Group does not anticipate any material 
variation in the amounts recognised.    

In addition, when new businesses are acquired, there is a transition period during which time the Group’s practices and 
procedures are embedded into the operations of the new business. Therefore the valuation of work in progress acquired 
in a business combination may be adjusted during the period of provisional accounting for the acquisition.  

(c) Provisional accounting 

Provisional accounting is applied by the Group to account for business combinations when the initial accounting is 
incomplete at the end of the reporting period. By its nature provisional accounting involves estimates and judgements 
based on the information available to the Group at the end of the reporting period, while it continues to seek information 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.  

(d) Income tax 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in the income tax 
legislation both in Australian and the UK and the anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient future assessable 
income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.  
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Note 2:  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued) 

(d)  Income tax (continued) 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences as management considers that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences. Refer to Note 6. 

(e) Fair value measurements 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair 
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 
as follows: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date; 

• Level 2: inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then 
the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level 
input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following Notes: 

• Note 27 – Share-based payment arrangements 

• Note 31 – Business combinations 

• Note 32 – Financial risk management 

• Note 33 – Fair value measurements 

(f) Determination and fair value of intangibles in a business combination 

The fair value of customer relationships acquired in a business combination is determined using the multi-period excess 
earnings method (“MEEM”) whilst the fair value of trademarks acquired in a business combination is based on a relief 
from royalties approach. These methods require estimates by management of future income streams, applicable royalty 
rates and discount rates. Refer to Note 31. 

(g) Principal vs agent 

SGS Motor Services provides car hire and repair services for not at fault clients, and the Group acts as a principal: 

• Although the services are provided by third party suppliers, the Group has the primary responsibility to ensure that 
the services have been delivered to the clients.  

• The Group cannot vary the prices set by the supplier, as it is governed by an industry framework. 

• The Group collects the revenue from the customer and bears all credit risk. 

Revenue resulting from car hire and repair services within SGS Motor Services is recognised on a gross basis. 

(h) Provision for solicitor liability 

Provision for Solicitor Liability claims relates to open claims and potential future claims as identified at end of the 
reporting period. Estimates of the provision is determined based on historical data, taking into account the nature of the 
existing claim and expected reimbursed expense will be included. The provision determined includes the estimated 
maximum amount payable by the Group. Refer to Note 18. 
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Note 3:  Segment Reporting 
The Group has three operating segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. Each 
strategic business unit is managed separately. For each of the strategic business units, the Group Managing Director 
reviews internal management reports on a monthly basis. The following summary describes each of the Group’s 
reportable segments: 

• Slater and Gordon Australia (“AUS”) – includes the parent company Slater and Gordon Limited and its subsidiaries 

in Australia. This segment conducts a range of legal services within the geographical area of Australia. This segment 
also includes investments in the Group’s other segments, and borrowings and capital raising activities to finance 
investment and operations of the combined Group. There is a recharge of ongoing management support to the other 
segments in the Group. 

• Slater and Gordon UK (“UK”) – includes the Group’s operations, conducting a range of legal services in the United 

Kingdom. The segment also includes the investment in SGS. 

• Slater Gordon Solutions (“SGS”) – represents the newly acquired business assets/entities from Quindell Plc, 

offering legal services relating to road traffic accidents, employee liability and noise induced hearing loss. This 
segment also provides complementary services in health and motor services. 

Segment assets are allocated to countries based on where the assets are located. 

2015 
AUS 

$’000 

UK 

$’000 

SGS 

$’000 

Total 

$’000 

Total segment revenue 321,632 275,845 37,181 634,658 
Inter-segment revenue (7,349) - - (7,349) 

Revenue from external customers 314,283 275,845 37,181 627,309 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation 73,996 63,797 (5,376) 132,417 
Interest revenue 2,997 272 - 3,269 

Interest expense (6,355) (4,851) (4) (11,210) 

Depreciation and amortisation (5,712) (4,024) (209) (9,945) 

Income tax (expense) / benefit (19,239) (12,452) 963 (30,728) 

Net profit/(loss) after income tax 45,687 42,742 (4,626)** 83,803 

Segment assets     

Total segment assets* 760,669 1,666,549 775,163 3,202,381 
Inter-segment assets (118,305) (27,055) - (145,360) 

Total assets per the balance sheet 642,364 1,639,494 775,163 3,057,021 

Segment liabilities     

Total segment liabilities 340,922 992,153 434,313 1,767,388 
Inter-segment liabilities - (118,305) (27,055) (145,360) 

Total liabilities per the balance sheet 340,922 873,848 407,258 1,622,028 

*Additions to non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 7,837 12,042 5,086 24,965 
Intangibles, including goodwill 5,152 1,009,698 71,355 1,086,205 
Total additions to non-current assets 12,989 1,021,740 76,441 1,111,170 

**Net loss after tax represents the period from 29 May 2015 (date of acquisition) to 30 June 2015. 



89  Annual Report 2015 Slater and Gordon Limited  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

Slater and Gordon Limited 
  Page 68 

Note 3:  Segment Reporting (continued) 

2014                                                        
Restated   

AUS 
$’000 

UK 

$’000 

SGS 

$’000 

Total 

$’000 

Total segment revenue 241,256 202,439 - 443,695 
Inter-segment revenue (5,467) - - (5,467) 

Revenue from external customers 235,789 202,439 - 438,228 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation 56,683 52,036 - 108,719 
Interest revenue 1,584 245 - 1,829 

Interest expense (5,142) (2,704) - (7,846) 

Depreciation and amortisation (3,450) (3,505) - (6,955) 

Income tax expense (16,253) (11,258) - (27,511) 

Net profit after income tax 33,422 34,814 - 68,236 

Segment assets     

Total segment assets* 614,766 404,576 - 1,019,342 
Inter-segment assets (114,240) - - (114,240) 

Total assets per the balance sheet 500,526 404,576 - 905,102 

Segment liabilities     

Total segment liabilities 235,961 364,631 - 600,592 
Inter-segment liabilities - (114,240) - (114,240) 

Total liabilities per the balance sheet 235,961 250,391 - 486,352 

*Additions to non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 949 4,238 - 5,187 

Intangibles, including goodwill 2,558 11,687 - 14,245 

Total additions to non-current assets 3,507 15,925 - 19,432 
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Note 4:  Revenue 

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

     2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Services Revenue    

Ancillary revenue  15,252 - 

Commission revenue  1,100 - 

Rendering of services – non-legal  4,120 - 

  20,472 - 

Gain from bargain purchase  58,939 19,762 

Other income    

Interest 4(a) 3,269 1,829 

Other  4,963 4,824 

  8,232 6,653 

(a) Interest from    

Other persons  2,294 401 

VCR share loans to employees  975 1,428 

  3,269 1,829 

Note 5:  Profit from Continuing Activities 

Finance costs expense    

Interest on bank overdraft and loans  8,551 4,807 

Interest on deferred consideration payable to vendor on acquisitions  1,942 2,502 

Interest on obligations under hire purchases  500 537 

Deferred costs of borrowing  217 - 

            11,210 7,846 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  4,442 4,352 
Software development  1,807 1,141 
Trademarks  3,696 1,404 
Customer relationships  - 58 
  9,945 6,955 

Cost of sales    

Ancillary revenue   14,490 - 
Commission revenue   3 - 
Rendering of services – non-legal   2,169 - 
  16,662 - 

    

Share based payments expense  2,031 1,180 

Share based payment expense to former owners  11,506 5,379 

Post-employment benefits  11,839 9,237 
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Note 6:  Income Tax  

 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Income tax expense    

Current tax  12,901 6,811 

Deferred tax  18,898 21,033 

Adjustment for current tax relating to prior periods  (1,071) (333) 

  30,728 27,511 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income    

Deferred tax credit arising on cash flow hedges  (150) (48) 

Deferred tax charge arising on foreign exchange gain  5,190 2,085 

  5,040 2,037 

Income tax recognised directly in equity    

Current tax credit on share issue costs  (7) - 

  (7) - 

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense    

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets  (61,092) 2,444 

Deferred income tax relating to items charged to other comprehensive income  (5,040) (2,037) 

Deferred income tax relating to items charged directly to equity  7 - 

Increase in deferred tax liabilities  56,887 20,897 

Recoup prior year tax losses and over/under on prior year losses  (995) - 

Net deferred taxes arising from business combinations  29,835 110 

Exchange differences  (704) (381) 

  18,898 21,033 

The prima facie tax payable on profit before tax differs from the income tax 
expense as follows:  114,531 95,747 
At the Australian statutory income tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%)  34,359 28,724 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(assessable) in calculating 
taxable income:    

Non-deductible expenses  12,083 3,252 

Non-assessable income  (16,139) (996) 

  30,303 30,980 

Adjustments in respect to prior periods  (1,071) (48) 
Difference in overseas tax rate  (3,204) (3,046) 

Deferred tax assets not recognised  4,273 120 

Deferred tax assets now recognised  (54) (110) 

Other  481 (385) 

Income tax expense  30,728 27,511 

Current tax assets    

Balance acquired per SGS acquisition  29,041 - 

  29,041 - 
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Note 6:  Income Tax (continued) 

 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

 

Current tax liability    

Balance at the beginning of the year  (2,481) (3,940) 

Balances arising from business acquisitions  (13,736) - 

Current income tax expense  (12,901) (6,811) 

Foreign withholding tax credit  - 282 

Tax paid  6,049 8,006 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods  620 179 

Other  - (32) 

Exchange differences  (107) (165) 

Balance at the end of the year  (22,556) (2,481) 

 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the Group can use the benefits therefrom. 

Deductible temporary differences  5,062 809 

Tax losses  130 110 

  5,192 919 

In 2015 costs were incurred for both Trademarks and Acquisition Costs relating to acquisition of subsidiaries. These 
amounts total $16,873,000 (tax effect: $5,062,000) and have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset.  These costs 
form part of the cost base of the Group’s subsidiaries and as the Group does not plan to dispose of its subsidiaries in the 
foreseeable future, no deferred tax has been recognised for these costs. 

A capital loss representing the movement in foreign exchange of $368,000 (tax effect: $110,000) arose on the transfer of 
shares held by Slater and Gordon in one of its subsidiary entities. It is uncertain whether future capital gains will arise 
against which this loss can be offset. 

Revenue losses of $66,000 (tax effect: $20,000) relating to one of the Group’s subsidiaries has not been recognised due 
to the uncertainty of that entity having sufficient future profits available to utilise the loss. 

 

 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Deferred tax assets    

Provision for impairment  8,808 1,276 

Employee benefits   6,602 5,755 

Provision for legal costs  378 275 

Accruals   3,122 2,609 

Non-deducted business related costs   251 451 

Fair value of cash flow hedges   378 228 

Unbilled acquired WIP and disbursements  14,010 985 

Unrendered WIP and disbursements not yet deducted  4,967 - 

Property, plant and equipment  516 171 

Other  2,007 173 

Revenue losses carried forward  23,138 3,329 

Advanced Company Income Tax (“ACIT”) refund in Malta  12,490 - 

Deductible goodwill  6,689 7,012 

  83,356 22,264 
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Note 6:  Income Tax (continued) 

 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000  

Restated 

Deferred tax liabilities    
Prepayments  (917) (810) 

Work in progress  (142,830) (105,590) 

Unrendered disbursements  (15,337) (14,184) 

Intangibles   (13,946) (913) 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (7,276) (2,085) 

Other  (202) (39) 

  (180,508) (123,621) 

Note 7:  Dividends 

  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Dividends paid during the year    

 

Dividends on ordinary shares 

Partially franked (40%) interim dividend at the tax rate of 30% for 2015: 3.50 cents 
per share (2014: 3.00 cents per share, fully franked)  7,341 6,115 
Fully franked final dividend at the tax rate of 30% for 2014: 5.00 cents per share 
(2013: 3.85 cents per share, fully franked)  10,279 7,655 
Total dividends paid during the year  17,620 13,770 
 
Dividends proposed and not recognised as a liability 

 

Dividends on ordinary shares 

Partially franked (40%) final dividend at the tax rate of 30% for the year ended   
30 June 2015: 5.50 cents per share (2014: 5.00 cents per share, fully franked)  19,290 10,217 

Franking credit balance    

Balance of franking account at year end adjusted for franking credits arising from 
payment of provision for income tax and after deducting franking credits to be 
used in payment of proposed dividends:  891 (3,082) 
    

Impact on franking account of dividend recommended by the directors since the 
year end but not recognised as a liability at year end:  3,307 4,379 
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Note 8:  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Note 
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

    

Cash at bank 23(a) 96,985 25,270 

Note 9:  Receivables 

Current 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Trade debtors  373,061 111,549 
Impairment of trade debtors  (76,115) (8,690) 
  296,946 102,859 
 

Disbursements   361,590  82,070 

Allowance for non-recovery  (44,769) (1,544) 

  316,821 80,526 

    

Other receivables  6,088 299 
  619,855 183,684 

    

Non-current    

Disbursements   96,358  51,857 

Allowance for non-recovery  (16,596) (6,173) 

   79,762  45,684 

    

Impairment of receivable    

Balance at beginning of the year  (8,690) (5,951) 
Receivables written off as uncollectible  2,980 1,440 
Provision for impairment recognised, including balances from business 
acquisitions  (68,005) (3,991) 
Foreign exchange translation differences  (2,400) (188) 

Balance at end of the year  (76,115) (8,690) 

Note 10:  Work in Progress 

Current  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Non-personal injury  16,065 14,731 

Personal injury  533,793 262,235 

Project litigation  3,319 1,106 

  553,177 278,072 

Non-current    

Personal injury  270,578 186,532 
Project litigation  2,143 2,730 

  272,721 189,262 

Note 11:  Other Assets 

Current  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Prepayments  21,943 10,337 
Other current assets  8,079 2,066 
  30,022 12,403 
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Note 12:  Property, Plant and Equipment 

 Note 
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Plant and equipment at cost  74,350          35,328 

Less accumulated depreciation  (43,514) (22,878) 

 12(a) 30,836 12,450 

Land and buildings at cost  302 - 

Less accumulated depreciation  - - 

 12(b) 302 - 

Low value asset pool at cost  2,442 1,825 

Less accumulated depreciation  (1,621) (1,311) 

 12(c) 821 514 

Total plant and equipment  31,959 12,964 

    

Movements in carrying amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of 
the current financial year: 

    

(a) Plant and equipment    

Balance at the beginning of the year  12,450 11,679 

Additions  16,823 3,131 

Additions through acquisition of entities  7,389 1,839 

Reclassification of plant and equipment  (2,140) - 

Exchange differences  581 221 

Depreciation expense  (4,153) (4,111) 

Disposals  (114) (309) 

Carrying amount at end of year  30,836 12,450 

    

(b) Land and buildings     

Balance at the beginning of the year  - - 

Additions through acquisition of entities  157 - 

Reclassification from plant and equipment  145 - 

Carrying amount at end of year  302 - 

    

(c) Low value asset pool    

Balance at the beginning of the year  514 540 

Additions  515 199 

Additions through acquisition of entities  81 18 

Depreciation expense  (289) (241) 

Disposals  - (2) 

Carrying amount at end of year  821 514 

 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment under finance lease included above amounted to $6,493,000 (2014: 
$4,562,000). 
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Note 13:  Intangible Assets  

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

   2014       
$’000 

Restated  

Goodwill – at cost  1,149,577 108,492 

Accumulated impairment loss  - - 

Net carrying amount 13(a) 1,149,577 108,492 

    

Software development – at cost  44,072 9,661 

Accumulated amortisation  (24,208) (4,556) 

Net carrying amount 13(b) 19,864 5,105 

    

Trademarks and brand names – at cost  81,004 11,488 

Accumulated amortisation   (5,481) (1,430)  

Accumulated impairment loss  - - 

Net carrying amount 13(c) 75,523 10,058 

    

Customer relationships – at cost  1,397 1,397 

Accumulated amortisation  (1,397) (1,397) 

Net carrying amount 13(d) - - 

    

Total intangible assets  1,244,964 123,655 
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Note 13:  Intangible Assets (continued) 

Movements in carrying amount 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of intangible assets between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year: 

 

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

2014       
$’000 

Restated 

(a) Goodwill    

Opening net book amount    108,492 93,504 

Additions in respect of business combinations  31 1,004,880 11,615 

Exchange differences  36,205 3,373 

Closing net book value  1,149,577 108,492 

    

(b) Software development    

Opening net book amount    5,105 4,714 

Additions  9,970 1,495 

Additions in respect of business combinations 31 4,512 25 

Reclassification from plant and equipment  1,995 - 
Exchange differences  149 12 

Amortisation expense  (1,807) (1,141) 

Disposals  (60) - 

Closing net book value  19,864 5,105 

    

(c) Trademarks and brand names    

Opening net book amount  10,058 10,020 

Additions in respect of business combinations 31 66,843 1,110 

Exchange differences  2,318 332 

Amortisation expense  (3,696) (1,404) 

Closing net book value  75,523 10,058 

    
(d) Customer relationships    

Opening net book amount    - 58 
Amortisation expense  - (58) 
Closing net book value  - - 
 

Goodwill and indefinite life intangibles acquired through business combinations have been allocated to individual cash 
generating units (“CGUs”) in both the Australian and UK business for the purposes of impairment testing being the 
Personal Injury Law (“PIL”) division, General Law (“GL”) division and SGS.  

The recoverable amount of goodwill and indefinite life intangibles allocated to each of the CGUs has been determined 
based on a value in use calculation as required by AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. This uses financial budgets and 

cash flow projections approved by senior management covering a five year period. 

The value in use is compared to the net carrying amount of the CGU. If the calculated value in use exceeds the net 
carrying amount, no impairment loss is recorded. 
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Note 13:  Intangible Assets (continued) 

 
AUS             
PIL 

AUS           
GL 

UK 

PIL 
UK 

GL SGS 

2015      

Goodwill recognised ($’000) 47,499 13,939 50,843 9,574 1,027,722 
Indefinite life intangibles ($’000) - - 1,956 - 68,656 

  

 
AUS                
PIL  

AUS           
GL 

UK 
PIL 

UK 
GL SGS 

2014      

Goodwill recognised ($’000) 44,766 11,575 43,737 8,414 - 

Indefinite life intangibles ($’000) 5,659 - 1,719 - - 

      
 
Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

 
The Group performed its annual impairment test in June of 2015. The Group is sensitive to the recovery of fees in its 
legal business, and the velocity of the resolution of those files.  In performing the value-in-use calculations for each CGU, 
the group has applied post-tax discount rates to discount the forecast future post-tax cash flows.  
 
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount are set out below: 
 
• Average fees recoverable for legal matters; 
• Average file velocity for legal matters; and 
• Cost of capital and discount rate used. 
  
Average fees recoverable for legal matters 

 
Average fees recoverable have been based upon an analysis of historical fee events in each of those practice areas, in 
conjunction with estimated fees of existing matters. 
 
Individually each of the practice group’s average fee levels is immaterial to the Group result, however should there be a 
material negative impact upon the average fee recoverable of matters across a number of practice groups in each 
jurisdiction, this could have a material impact upon the impairment analysis. 
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the average fees recoverable for each of the CGUs, a reasonable level of 
negative movement in the average fees recoverable is unlikely to give rise to impairment to any of the CGUs. 
 
Average file velocity for legal matters 

 

The settlement profile of legal matters has been based upon the average settlement period for matters for each 
jurisdiction and practice area. 
 
The velocity of settlement of legal matters has an impact upon the sensitivity analysis. Individually a slowing of file 
velocity in a practice area is immaterial, however should there be a material negative impact on the settlement period of 
matters across a number of practice groups and jurisdictions; this could have a negative impact upon the estimated 
future value of the CGU on a net present value basis due to the negative impact upon cash flows. 
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the average velocity of matters in each of the CGUs and a reasonable level 
of negative movement in the settlement period for matters is unlikely to give rise to impairment to any of the CGUs. 
 
Cost of capital and discount rate used 

 

Cost of capital has been assessed per CGU.  Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks 
specific to each CGU, taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that 
have been incorporated in the cash flow estimates.  
 
The discount rate has been adjusted to be a post-tax rate because in performing the value in use calculations for each 
CGU the Group has used forecast future attributable post-tax cash flows. 
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Note 13:  Intangible Assets (continued) 
Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions (continued) 

 
The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments and is 
derived from its weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The 
cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment to the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on 
the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is obliged to service.  CGU specific risk is incorporated by applying individual 
beta factors and additional asset specific risk premia where appropriate. The factors that comprise the WACC are 
evaluated annually based on publicly available market data. Adjustments to the discount rate are made having regard to 
the specific amount and timing of the future tax flows in order to reflect an appropriate post-tax discount rate. 
 
For the Australian PIL, Australian GL, UK PIL and UK GL CGUs a post-tax cost of capital of 9.25% has been applied.  
This cost of capital has been assessed with reference to the Company’s weighted average cost of capital and 
independent third party analysis of its cost of capital.  This cost of capital was utilised as the Company has observable 
market data to allow an appropriate assessment of its cost of capital as a listed company on the Australian Stock 
Exchange.  
 
The post-tax cost of capital for the SGS CGU was assessed at 10.45%.  This cost of capital was assessed at a higher 
rate than all other CGUs due to the recent acquisition of the CGU by Slater and Gordon and the inherent risk that new 
acquisitions carry with them, as well as the specific risk characteristics of the forecast cash flows.  This increased cost of 
capital represents the increased inherent equity risk associated with the transaction, and reflects the transactions funding 
structure within the calculation. 
 
Australia – Personal Injury Law 

 
The recoverable amount of the AUS – PIL CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projections from the financial forecasts approved by senior management covering a five year period. A 5.00% (2014: 
7.70%) nominal growth rate has been applied to the FY16 forecast for the periods FY17 to FY20 with a long term 
nominal growth rate adopted of 3.00%. 
 
The growth rates beyond the 5 year period have been determined with reference to forecast inflation rates, population 
and industry growth rates. 
 
The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect impacts of legislative change in the NSW and Queensland 
jurisdictions and growth achieved in the PIL practice groups over the past five years.  
 
The post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9.25% (2014: 9.10%).   
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the key assumptions and a reasonable level of negative movement in each 
assumption does not cause impairment to the CGU. 
 
Australia – General Law 

 
The recoverable amount of the AUS – GL CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow 
projections from the financial forecasts approved by senior management covering a five year period. An 8.00% (2014: 
9.12%) nominal growth rate has been applied to the FY16 forecast for the periods FY17 to FY20 with a long term 
nominal growth rate adopted of 3.00%. 
 
The growth rates beyond the 5 year period have been determined with reference to forecast inflation rates, population 
and industry growth rates. 
 
The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect growth achieved in the General Law practice groups over the past 
five years and the increased marketing expenditure applied to the General Law practice groups over the past year. 

 
The post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9.25% (2014: 9.10%).   
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the key assumptions and a reasonable level of negative movement in each 
assumption does not cause impairment to the CGU. 
 
United Kingdom- Personal Injury Law 
 

The recoverable amount of the UK – PIL CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow 
projections from the financial forecasts approved by senior management covering a five year period.  
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Note 13:  Intangible Assets (continued) 

United Kingdom – Personal Injury Law (continued) 
 

A 5.00% (2014: 6.80%) nominal growth rate has been applied to the FY16 forecast for the periods FY17 to FY20 with a 
long term nominal growth rate adopted of 3.00%.  
 
The growth rates beyond the 5 year period have been determined with reference to forecast inflation rates, population 
and industry growth rates. 
 
The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the acquisitions of Walker Smith Way, Leo Abse & Cohen and the 
personal injuries practice of Flint Bishop in FY15, increased marketing in the United Kingdom for the Slater and Gordon 
brand which has led to increased brand recognition and growth achieved in the Personal Injuries practice groups since 
acquisition. 
 
The post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9.25% (2014: 9.10%).  
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the key assumptions and a reasonable level of negative movement in each 
assumption does not cause impairment to the CGU. 
 
United Kingdom – General Law 

 
The recoverable amount of the United Kingdom – GL CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation 
using cash flow projections from the financial forecasts approved by senior management covering a five year period.  
 
An 8.00% (2014: 6.80%) nominal growth rate has been applied to the FY16 forecast for the periods FY17 to FY20 with a 
long term nominal growth rate adopted of 3.00%.  
 
The growth rates beyond the 5 year period have been determined with reference to forecast inflation rates, population 
and industry growth rates. 
 
The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the acquisition of Walker Smith Way, increased marketing in the 
United Kingdom for the Slater and Gordon brand which has led to increased brand recognition, in addition to growth 
achieved in the General Law practice groups since acquisition. 
 
The post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9.25% (2014: 9.10%).  
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the key assumptions and a reasonable level of negative movement in each 
assumption does not cause impairment to the CGU. 
 
Slater Gordon Solutions 

 
The recoverable amount of Slater and Gordon Solutions (“SGS”) CGU, £756m as at 30 June 2015, has been determined 
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from the financial forecasts approved by senior 
management covering a five year period.  
 
Based on the provisional accounting the estimated recoverable amount of the SGS CGU exceeded its carrying amount 
by approximately £123m at 30 June 2015. 
 
The projected cash flows have been based on financial forecasts by senior management for the periods FY16 to FY18 
with a 2.25% nominal growth rate applied to periods post FY18. This long term growth rate for the SGS CGU has been 
based on the long term economic growth rate. This differs to the long term growth rate assumption applied to the other 
UK CGU’s as SGS was only acquired on 29 May 2015. 
 
A key driver of performance which may impact an impairment of the SGS CGU is the rate of resolution of personal injury 
claims (“velocity of matters”). Personal injury claims represent a very large proportion of the SGS business and if the 
velocity of matters slows, cash flow will be detrimentally impacted and this may impair goodwill.   
 
A sensitivity analysis has been conducted to measure the extent to which velocity would need to be reduced before 
goodwill was impaired.  The sensitivity analysis conducted on the average velocity of personal injury claims within the 
SGS CGU indicated a negative movement of up to 60% in the settlement period for matters would not cause an 
impairment to the SGS CGU.   
 
In addition, cash flows of the SGS CGU were discounted to allow for a 50% discount to the forecast recovery of NIHL 
(Hearing Loss) with no impairment noted to the SGS CGU. 



101  Annual Report 2015 Slater and Gordon Limited  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

Slater and Gordon Limited 
  Page 80 

Note 13:  Intangible Assets (continued) 
Slater Gordon Solutions (continued) 
 

The post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections for the SGS CGU is 10.45%.   
 
This post-tax cost of capital was assessed at a higher rate than all other CGUs due to the recent acquisition of the CGU 
by Slater and Gordon and the inherent risk that new acquisitions carry with them, as well as the specific risk 
characteristics of the forecast cash flows.  This increased cost of capital represents the increased inherent equity risk 
associated with the transaction, and reflects the transactions funding structure within the calculation. 
 
Sensitivity analysis has been conducted on the cost of capital for the SGS CGU and the Directors noted that an increase 
of the post-tax discount rate to 12.0% was required before the carrying value of the CGU equalled its recoverable 
amount. This represented an increase of over 14.8% on the post-tax discount rate adopted by the Company.  
 

Note 14:  Other Non-Current Assets 

  
2015 

$’000 
    2014 

$’000 

    

VCR share loans to employees  8,325 11,844 

Other non-current assets  6,854 - 

  15,179 11,844 

 

Note 15:  Payables 

 

 2015 
$’000 

    2014 
$’000         

Restated 
Current    
Unsecured liabilities    

Trade creditors and accruals  281,169 74,792 

Legal creditors   336,588 101,554 

Vendor liabilities – acquisitions  18,765 14,181 
  636,522 190,527 

Non-current    

Unsecured liabilities    

Vendor liabilities – acquisitions  3,121 7,385 

    

Note 16:  Borrowings 

 
Note 2015 

$’000 
   2014 
$’000  

Current    
Secured    

Cash advances – bills of exchange  447 7,215 

Finance lease liability  3,306 1,862 

 32 3,753 9,077 

Non-current    

Secured    

Cash advances – bills of exchange  710,477 112,698 

Finance lease liability  6,123 4,556 

 32 716,600 117,254 
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Note 16:  Borrowings (continued) 

(a) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments: 

The cash advance facility is a Syndicated Banking Facility provided by a syndicate of banks including Westpac Banking 
Corporation (“Westpac”) and National Australia Bank (“NAB”). Refer to Note 32 (ii) for more details. They are secured by 
a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Company.  

Interest on the bank overdraft is charged at BBSY plus an agreed margin.  

(b) A portion of the bills of exchange cash advance facility is the subject of an interest rate swap to hedge the risk of 
an adverse interest rate movement. Refer to Note 32 (iv) for more details. 

(c) The Group leases certain of its fixed assets under finance leases. The lease terms range from 3 to 10 years            
(2014: 3 to 10 years). The Group has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the 
lease terms. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets. 

Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed at respective contract, rates ranging from 3.2% to 
9.25% (2014: 3.96% to 9.25%) per annum. 

  

2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

  

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payment Interest 

Present 
value of 
minimum 

lease 
payment 

Future 
Minimum 

lease 
payment Interest 

Present 
value of 
minimum 

lease 
payment 

Within one year  3,784 (478) 3,306 2,270 (408) 1,862 
One year or later and not later than five years  6,778 (655) 6,123 4,985 (777) 4,208 
Greater than five years  - - - 357 (9) 348 
  10,562 (1,133) 9,429 7,612 (1,194) 6,418 

Note 17:  Other Current Liabilities       

  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Current    

Unsecured    
LLP member capital contributions  10,985 10,103 

  10,985 10,103 

Note 18:  Provisions 

 

 2015 
$’000 

         2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Current    
Employee benefits  18,638 15,550 

Solicitor liability claims  4,708 918 

Provision for payments to former owners  9,969 3,656 

Other current provisions  1,172 - 

  34,487 20,124 

Non-current    

Employee benefits  3,367 3,164 

Other non-current provisions  8,508 1,596 

  11,875 4,760 
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Note 19:  Contributed Equity 

 
Note 2015 

Shares 
2015 

$’000 
2014 

Shares 
2014 

$’000 Restated 

Ordinary shares fully paid 19(a) 350,719,894 1,097,928 204,338,625 214,514 
VCR Shares 19(b) 833,334 417 2,629,333 2,535 
Balance at end of the year  351,553,228 1,098,345      206,967,958 217,049 

 

(a) Movement in Ordinary Share Capital 

Balance at the beginning of the year                                                       204,338,625 214,514 196,809,265 206,506 

Issued during the year      

- Consideration for acquisitions  4,873,700 2,679 4,463,219 (134) 
- Conversion of vested VCR shares  1,275,333 2,397 2,120,333 4,008 
- Dividend Reinvestment Plan  257,719 1,696 945,808 3,863 

- Equity Incentive Plan  151,668 759 - - 

- Shares issued through Entitlement Offer*  139,822,849 890,939 - - 
- Transfer from share-based payment reserve  - 6,199 - 391 

Less capital raising costs, net of tax  - (21,255) - (120) 
Balance at end of the year  350,719,894 1,097,928 204,338,625 214,514 
 
*The Group made two Entitlement Offers during the year to eligible shareholders to raise finance for the acquisition of SGS being the 

Institutional Entitlement Offer and a Retail Entitlement offer. Under the Entitlement Offers, eligible shareholders were invited to 

subscribe for two ordinary shares for every three existing ordinary shares held at the record date per the ASX announcement. Each new 

share ranks equally with the existing shares.  

(b) Movements in VCR Share Capital 

 Note 
2015 

Shares 
2015 

$’000 
2014 

Shares 
2014 

$’000 

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,629,333 2,535 5,111,334 5,867 
- Conversion of vested VCR shares to ordinary shares  (1,275,333) (2,397) (2,120,333) (4,008) 
- Employee share scheme buy-back:  (520,666) (161) (361,668) (438) 
Share based payments expense  - 991 - 1,180 
Equity adjustment for leavers and extension of repayment term  - (551) - (66) 

Balance at end of the year  833,334 417 2,629,333 2,535 
Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of 
shares held. At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

VCR shares 

Please refer to Note 27 for detailed discussion on the rights attached to VCR shares. 

Capital management 

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the Group continues to maintain optimal returns to 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. This is achieved through the monitoring of historical and forecast 
performance and cash flows. 

During 2015, management paid dividends of $17,620,000 (2014: $13,770,000) 

Management manages capital through the gearing ratio i.e. net bank debt / total equity. Net bank debt is calculated as 
total bank borrowings as shown in the statement of financial position less cash and cash equivalents. The target for the 
Group’s gearing ratio is between 30% to 40%. 
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Note 20:  Reserves  

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

     2014 
$’000        

Restated 

    

Cash flow hedging reserve 20(a) (1,189) (780) 
Foreign currency translation reserve 20(b) 73,447 10,009 
Share-based payment reserve 20(c) 10,619 4,988 

  82,877 14,217 
    

Movements in carrying amount 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of reserve between the beginning and the end of the current financial 
year. 

    

(a)  Cash flow hedging reserve 

 
   

Balance at the beginning of the year  (780) (473) 

Loss recognised on interest rate hedges, net of tax  (409) (307) 
Balance at the end of the year  (1,189) (780) 
    

(b)  Foreign currency translation reserve 

 
   

Balance at the beginning of the year  10,009 4,183 
Currency translation differences arising during the year  63,542 5,833 

Non-controlling interest share in translation reserve  (104) (7) 

Balance at the end of the year  73,447 10,009 
    

(c)  Share-based payment reserve    

Balance at the beginning of the year  4,988 - 

Equity-settled share-based payment expense recognised  11,830 5,379 

Transfer to share capital  (6,199) (391) 

Balance at the end of the year  10,619 4,988 

 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Cash flow hedging reserve 

The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments 
related to hedge transactions that have not yet occurred, net of tax. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net 
investment is disposed of. 

Share-based payment reserve 

The Group introduced the Equity Incentive Plan (“EIP”) in October 2014, which replaces the existing Employee 
Ownership Plan (“EOP”) without prejudice to the rights of current participants in the EOP. Under the terms of the EIP, 
performance rights offers were extended to executives in October and December 2014. All offers were accepted and 
496,000 performance rights have been issued at the Group level, including a shareholder approved allocation of 56,000 
performance rights (combined) to executive directors. The performance rights vest based on a three year service 
condition and the financial performance of the Australian, UK or Group operations (depending on the executive role) over 
the three financial years FY15 to FY17. Performance measures include total shareholder return and earnings measures. 
Each performance right grants the holder one ordinary share if vested, hence they have been included in the calculation 
of diluted earnings per share. Refer to Note 27 for more details. 
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Note 21:  Retained Profits 

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

     2014 
$’000 

Restated 

    

Retained profits 21(a) 253,147 187,213 
    
(a)  Retained profits    
Balance at the beginning of year  187,213 132,963 

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders  83,554 68,020 

Total available for appropriation  270,767 200,983 

Dividends paid 7 (17,620) (13,770) 

Balance at end of year  253,147 187,213 

Note 22:  Non-Controlling Interests 

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

    

Interest in:    

Share capital  - - 

Reserves  104 7 

Retained profits  520 264 

Balance at end of year 22(a) 624 271 

 
    

(a)  Non-controlling interests    
Balance at the beginning of the year  271 161 
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests  - (113) 
Non-controlling interest share in net profit after tax  249 216 
Non-controlling interest share in translation reserve  104 7 
Balance at the end of the year  624 271 
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Note 23:  Cash Flow Information 

 

 

Note 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

(a)  Reconciliation of cash    

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at call deposits with 
banks or financial institutions, investments in money market instruments maturing within less than three months and net 
of bank overdrafts. 

 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related 
items in the statement of financial position as follows: 

Cash on hand 8 96,985 25,270 

  96,985 25,270 

    

(b)  Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income 
tax 

   

Profit after income tax  83,803 68,236 

Non-cash flows in profit from ordinary activities    

Notional interest on VCR share loans 4 (975) (1,428) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5 9,945 6,955 

Share based payments expenses  13,537 6,559 

Accrual for payments to former owners  13,933 3,651 

Costs associated with acquisition  23,662 4,054 

Notional interest on deferred consideration 5 1,942 2,502 

Bad and doubtful debts  11,585 6,904 

Deferred costs of borrowing 5 217 - 

Gain on bargain purchase  (58,939) (19,762) 
Changes in assets and liabilities    

Increase in receivables  (67,445) (12,846) 

Increase in other assets   (2,690) (170) 

Increase in work in progress  (62,027) (45,382) 

Increase in payables  44,171 13,806 

Decrease in income tax payable  (4,128) (7,670) 
Increase in net deferred tax liability  29,298 24,683 

Increase in provisions  4,873 4,343 

Cash flows from operations  40,762 54,435 

  



107  Annual Report 2015 Slater and Gordon Limited  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

Slater and Gordon Limited 
  Page 86 

Note 24:  Commitments and Contingencies 

 Note 
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Operating lease commitments    

Non-cancellable operating leases (including rental of office space) contracted but not capitalised in the consolidated 

financial statements: 

Within one year  31,223 20,815 

One year or later and not later than five years  76,894 43,920 

Greater than five years  65,007 6,911 

  173,124 71,646 

    

Bank guarantees in respect of rental properties and acquisitions  28,621 9,255 

 

Other commitments and contingencies 

The Group has agreements with third party disbursement funders, ASK Funding Limited and Equal Access Funding 
Proprietary Limited (“the existing Funders”), to provide financial guarantees to the funders with respect to disbursement 
funding borrowings to the Group’s clients. The nature of these agreements are that the funders will fund disbursements 
in respect of individual matters and will be reimbursed out of any settlement proceeds on the matter. The Group has 
provided a financial guarantee for the repayment of the clients’ obligations to the funders. Nowicki Carbone also had in 
place agreements with third party disbursement funders, Wingate Funding Limited and Quantum Funding Limited (“the 
assumed Funders”) on similar terms to the existing Funders arrangements and these have been assumed by the Group 
from the date of the acquisition, 31 October 2014. 

Since 30 June 2014, the Group ended its arrangement with ASK Funding and settled all disbursements previously 
funded by ASK Funding and recognised them as part of the receivables balance at 30 June 2015. The total amount 
funded by the funders (existing and assumed) to the Group’s clients at 30 June 15 is $18,851,000 (30 June 2014: 
$12,881,000). The maximum exposure of the Group at 30 June 2015 is $18,851,000 (30 June 2014:                
$12,881,000) if the disbursements on client matters are not recovered from any other party. 

Refer to Note 31 Business Combinations for disclosures on contingencies arising from businesses acquired during the 
year. 

Note 25:  Earnings per Share 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per 
share 

 Note 2015     
$’000 

2014     
$’000 

Restated 

Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary equity holders  83,554 68,020 
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share  83,554 68,020 
    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings 
per share (‘000’s) 

 

234,842 201,306 
    

Effect of dilutive securities:     

VCR shares (‘000’s)  1,377 3,437 
Performance rights  303 - 

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share (‘000’s)  236,522 204,743 
 

VCR shares 

VCR shares are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted 
earnings per share. Refer to Note 27 for a detailed explanation of VCR shares. 
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Note 26:  Key Management Personnel Compensations  

 Note 
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Compensation by Category    

Short-term employment benefits  3,695,822 3,490,437 

Post-employment benefits   210,384 160,778 

Other long term employment benefits  54,954 86,633 

Share based payments  49,084 11,745 

Other benefits  20,783 240,666 

  
4,031,027 3,990,259 

Note 27:  Share-Based Payment Arrangements  

The Group introduced a broad based ‘share save’ offer to all employees and a new Employee Equity Incentive Plan 
(“EIP”) which was approved by the shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). 

Employee equity incentive plan (“EIP”)  

During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Group introduced an offer for Exempt Shares in the Equity Incentive Plan. The 
Plan gives the Group’s employees the opportunity to acquire shares in the Company. Each year, participating employees 
can make contributions from their pre-tax salary to acquire $500 worth of shares. Such employee contributions are 
matched by the Group with an additional $500 worth of shares being acquired for each participating employee. All 
employees who are Australian tax residents with at least 6 months service as at 21 October 2014 are entitled to 
participate in this Plan. Shares acquired under this Plan are subject to a holding period of 3 years.   

The plan also incorporates a tax-approved scheme to employees in the UK. The Plan gives the Group’s employees the 
opportunity to acquire shares in the Company. Employees can make contributions from their pre-tax salary to acquire 
£375 (max) worth of shares. Such employee contributions are matched by the Group with a free share for every share 
purchased by the employee. All employees of the Group in the UK with at least 6 months service as at 14 November 
2014 are entitled to participate in this Plan. Shares acquired under this plan will be held in trust by MM&K Share Plan 
Trustee Ltd for a period of 5 years from the date of acquisition.  

Executive equity incentive plan  

The plan introduces an ownership-based compensation scheme for executives and senior employees. In October 2014, 
the Company’s shareholders approved the S+G Executive Equity Incentive Scheme under which grants of performance 
rights have been made. The EIP replaces the existing Employee Ownership Plan (“EOP”), without prejudice to the rights 
of current participants in the EOP. 

Performance rights are granted for no consideration. Under the scheme each performance right carries an entitlement to 
one fully paid ordinary share in the Company subject to satisfaction of performance hurdles and/or continued 
employment at an exercise price of nil. These executives and senior employees are not entitled to vote or receive any 
dividends or attend the meeting of the shareholders during the vesting period. Performance rights may not be 
transferred, disposed or pledged as security. If the executive ceases to be employed by the Group within the vesting 
period, the rights will be forfeited, except in limited circumstances that are approved by the Board.  

The performance hurdles are based on the following: 

• Total Shareholder Return (TSR) Outperformance Hurdle – This performance hurdle is based on the Company’s total 
shareholder return (TSR) against the TSR of the constituent companies within the S&P/ASX 300 index (excluding 
resources) over the Measurement Period. The performance period shall be the period from 1 September 2014 to    31 
August 2017.  

• Compound Annual Growth Rate in Earnings Per Share (CAGR EPS) Hurdle – This performance hurdle is based            
on the Company’s Compound Annual Growth Rate in Earnings Per Share over the Measurement Period. 

• Compound Annual Growth Rate in Regional EBITDA (CAGR EBITDA) Hurdle – This performance hurdle is based on 
the designated Region’s Compound Annual Growth Rate in EBITDA over the Measurement Period.  
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Note 27:  Share-Based Payment Arrangements (continued) 
The performance conditions applying to the latest grant (FY15) were as follows: 

CAGR EPS Hurdle (Group 
Directors only) CAGR EPS Hurdle  

TSR Outperformance 
Hurdle CAGR EBITDA 

Performance 

% of 
equity 
to vest Performance 

% of 
equity to 

vest Performance 

% of 
equity to 

vest Performance 

% of 
equity to 

vest 

< 10% 0% < 7% 0% 
< 50th 

percentile 0% < 15% 0% 

10% to 15% 

50% to 
100% 

pro-rata 7% to 10% 

50% to 
100% pro-

rata 
50th to 75th 
percentile 

50% to 
100% 

pro-rata 15% to 20% 

50% to 
100% pro-

rata 

> 15% 100% > 10% 100% 
> 75th 

percentile 100% > 20% 100% 
 

Any performance rights not vested at the end of the performance period are forfeited. 

The fair value of services received in return for the performance rights granted is measured by reference to the average 
of volume weighted average price of ordinary shares on each of 5, 10, 15 and 20 days immediately preceding the grant 
date. The weighted average fair values at grant date are determined using a fair valuation model which reflects the fact 
that vesting of the shares is dependent on meeting performance criteria based on TSR. The vesting of the shares is also 
subject to non-market conditions but these are not taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the 
services received. The assessed fair value of performance rights granted under this scheme as remuneration is allocated 
equally over the period from grant date to vesting date. 

The key terms and conditions related to the performance rights granted under this plan are as follows:  

Grant date/employee entitled 
Performan
ce rights 
granted 

Fair value of 
rights at 
Grant date 

Vesting conditions* 

Contractual life 
of performance 

rights 

Group Executive Directors in Australia (31 
October 2014) 

 

56,000 2.4643 50% subject to TSR 
Outperformance hurdle 
and 50% subject to 
CAGR EPS hurdle 

3 years 

Group Executives in Australia (31 October 
2014) 

68,000 2.4643 Same as above 3 years 

Group Executives in the UK (12 December 
2014) 

44,000 2.4799 Same as above 3 years 

Regional Executives in Australia (31 
October 2014) 

176,000 6.1608 50% subject to CAGR 
EBITDA hurdle and 
50% subject to CAGR 
EPS hurdle 

3 years 

Regional Executives in the UK (12 
December 2014) 

152,000 6.1997 Same as above 3 years 

 

* All performance rights include 3 years’ service condition from grant date.    

Number of rights granted: 

Grant date 
Balance at 
beginning 
of the year 

Granted during 
the year 

Vested 
during the 

year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Balance at 
end of the 

year 

Exercisable 
at end of the 

year 

31 October 2014 - 300,000 - - 300,000 - 

12 December 2014 - 196,000 - - 196,000 - 

 

Share-based payment expenses recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in Note 5.  
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Note 27:  Share-Based Payment Arrangements (continued) 
Share based payment arrangements to former owners 

The Group has changed its accounting treatment of deferred consideration payable for the acquisition of legal service 
practices. Arrangements that include contingent consideration to vendors of the business that are subject to so-called 
“bad leaver” provisions were previously considered as part of the consideration paid or payable for the business 
combination.  

Included in the terms of a number of purchase agreements entered into by the Group is an arrangement whereby the 
payment of cash consideration to and/or the retention of share-based consideration by the vendors of acquired entities is 
contingent upon the relevant vendors remaining with the Group for a defined period.  If a vendor ceases to remain with 
the Group for the prescribed period, the vendor may forfeit its entitlement to payment of the cash consideration and/or its 
ability to retain its share-based consideration, at the discretion of the Group. 

These arrangements are now treated as a share-based payment transaction with the former owners. The transaction is 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted and then recognised as an expense over the vesting period 
as agreed per each contract. The relevant expense is disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Employee ownership plan (“EOP”) 

The EOP provides for the issue of VCR shares to participants in a number of tranches and for the Company to make a 
loan to participants equal to the total amount that is to be subscribed. 

When making an offer to an employee to subscribe for VCR shares, the Board has the power to specify: 

• the number of VCR shares which may be subscribed for by a particular employee; 

• the issue price. The Board sets the issue price at the fair value of a share as at the date of the issue; 

• the number of tranches into which the VCR shares will be divided and the vesting date for each tranche; 

• the period for which an absolute restriction on disposal will apply (this period may not exceed 3 years from vesting); 

• any conditions to be placed on vesting; 

• any events which would result in the forfeiture of the VCR shares; and 

• the period for which the Company will be able to buy back or require the forfeiture of the converted shares. 

The EOP provides for a full recourse loan from the Company to the employee to facilitate the employee’s subscription for 
VCR shares. The loan is secured by the VCR shares or the converted VCR shares. The offer made by the Board must 
specify the date by which the loan must be repaid. 

Vesting, redemptions and conversion 

VCR shares do not carry rights to participate in issues by the Company or to receive any dividends paid by the Company 
and cannot be transferred or otherwise disposed of without the prior written consent of the Board. VCR shares will not 
confer a right to notices of general meetings, a right to attend or speak at general meetings, nor a right to vote at general 
meetings except as may be required by law. 

Vesting conditions are set by the Board and relate to the performance of the participant and the performance of the 
Company. Cessation of employment with the Group results in the forfeiture of that participant’s VCR shares. The Board 
has the power to specify other forfeiture events.  

Where vesting conditions are not met or a forfeiture event occurs, the Company has the power to redeem the relevant 
tranche (or tranches) of VCR shares for an amount equal to the relevant proportion of the subscribed amount (this 
amount may be offset against any loan made to the participant).   

If all vesting conditions are satisfied, and no forfeiture event has occurred, each tranche of VCR shares vests, and then 
automatically converts to ordinary shares on a one for one basis, on the relevant vesting date. 

  



111  Annual Report 2015 Slater and Gordon Limited  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

Slater and Gordon Limited 
  Page 90 

Note 27:  Share-Based Payment Arrangements (continued) 
After conversion 

After conversion the shares rank in all respects pari passu with all other shares on issue. However those shares will be 
subject to disposal restrictions.  

If the participant ceases employment with the Group, their converted VCR shares can be forfeited or bought back by the 
Company and set off against any outstanding loan. The participant may be deemed liable for any shortfall between the 
value of the shares forfeited or brought back by the Company and the loan amount. 

At the cessation of the Buyback Period, each participant is required to enter into a Binding Commitment with the 
Company in respect of their converted VCR shares. Under the Binding Commitment the participants in the EOP will be 
under the following restrictions: 

They will be required to maintain a minimum level of shareholding for as long as they remain an employee of the Group.  
The minimum holding is calculated based on the: 

• lower of 15% of the aggregate number of VCR shares, or 20% of the aggregate value (based on the issue price) of 
VCR shares, issued to that employee which have vested and converted to shares. 

• if they cease to be employed by the Group, they may forfeit or be required to dispose of some or all of their shares 
upon such termination. The ramifications of a departure from employment are linked to the circumstances 
surrounding that departure. 

Transfer 

VCR shares may not be transferred. During the Buyback Period, converted VCR shares may not be transferred; 
however, an exception applies for a takeover or scheme of arrangement relating to the Company that meets certain 
conditions set out in the EOP. 

Profile of vesting, conversion and redemption of VCR shares to ordinary shares 

The profile of the vesting of VCR shares relating to the issued VCR shares in February 2011, December 2011, 
December 2012 and February 2013 into ordinary shares, conversion into ordinary shares (subject to disposal 
restrictions) or scheduled for redemption as VCR shares based on the shares issued under the EOP as at 30 June 2015: 

 
Vested 

’000 

1 year or 
less 

’000 

1 to 5 
years 

’000 

More than 
5 years 

’000 

 

Total 

’000 

VCR shares which have (or may) vest as ordinary 
shares 

4,954 833 - - 5,787 

VCR shares which may convert to ordinary 
shares but are subject to disposal restrictions 1,959 1,840 1,988 - 5,787 

VCR shares to be redeemed - 75 - - 75 
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Note 27:  Share-Based Payment Arrangements (continued) 
Accounting recognition 

The VCR Share loan receivable is initially recognised at its fair value and is ascertained with reference to the effective 
interest method under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The profit and loss impact is 

taken as the difference between the expected repayment period and the expected present value of the loan amount at 
the reporting date and is recognised as interest income. 

The key assumptions used in the present value calculation are:  

Date VCR shares issued 22 February 2011 31 December 2011 

20 December 2012 
and 

25 February 2013 

Shares issued 1,830,000 2,390,000 2,425,000 

Issue price $2.05 $1.79 $1.95 

Effective interest rate 8.5% 8.5% 8.5% 

Final repayment date 
1 July 2014 to 

1 July 2016 

1 July 2015 to 

1 July 2017 

1 July 2016 to 

1 July 2018 

 

The interest income recognised on VCR Share loans to employees has been disclosed in Note 4. 

The benefit provided to the employee is required to be recognised in the accounts under AASB 2 Share-based Payment.  

The benefit is assessed as the difference between the fair value of the VCR shares at the issue date and the present 
value discounted over the vesting period. The benefit is expensed with reference to the effective interest rate method 
over the vesting period. The share based payments expense has been disclosed in Note 5. 

Note 28:  Auditor’s Remuneration  

 Note 
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Amounts received or due and receivable by Pitcher Partners:    

An audit of the financial report of the Group and review of statutory accounts  276,623 247,198 

The half year review of the financial report of the Group  106,500             
106,500  

97,788 

Other assurance services  39,227               
39,227  

12,130 

Due diligence investigations  177,860 15,900 

IT review  - 5,427 

  600,210 378,443 
    

Amounts received or due and receivable by network firms of Pitcher 
Partners: 

 
   

An audit of the financial report of the Group and review of statutory accounts  302,434 228,355 
Other assurance services  4,245 - 
  306,679 228,355 
    

Other auditors – Ernst & Young LLP:    

An audit of the financial reports of the subsidiaries of the Company and review of 
statutory accounts  1,614,080 - 

Due diligence investigations  1,475,791 - 

  3,089,871 - 

    
    

Total auditor’s remuneration  3,996,760 606,798 

 

 

 



113  Annual Report 2015 Slater and Gordon Limited  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

Slater and Gordon Limited 
  Page 92 

Note 29:  Related Party Disclosures  
The following provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year:  

As outlined in the replacement Prospectus (“the Prospectus”) dated 13 April 2007 the South Australian practice is 
operated by Andrew Grech as a sole practitioner trading as Slater & Gordon Lawyers under a Service and Licence 
Agreement between Andrew Grech and the Company.  During the 3 months ended 30 September 2014, the service and 
licence fee totalled $531,532 (2014: $1,184,937).  

Legislation in South Australia changed with effect from 1 July 2014 to allow for incorporated legal practices to operate in 
South Australia. As a consequence, the Adelaide practice was transferred from Andrew Grech trading as Slater & 
Gordon Lawyers to the Company for the value of the practice’s net assets at 30 September 2014. The net asset value 
was fully offset by amounts owed to the Company pursuant to the service and license agreement.  

As disclosed in Note 1, this entity is included in the consolidated group in accordance with AASB 10 Consolidated 

Financial Statements. 

The shareholdings of related parties and remuneration of KMP are disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 

Outstanding receivables, if any, between related parties are disclosed in Note 9. Outstanding payables, if any, are 
disclosed in Note 15. 
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Note 30: Group Entities 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

2015 
Ownership 

Interest (%) 

2014 
Ownership 

Interest (%) 

Controlled entities    

Trilby Misso Lawyers Limited Australia 100 100 

Slater & Gordon Lawyers NSW Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

Conveyancing Works (Qld) Pty Limited Australia 100 100 

Schultz Toomey O’Brien Pty Ltd Australia 100 - 

All States Legal Co Pty Ltd Australia 100 - 

SG NSW Pty Ltd Australia 100 - 

Walker Smith Way Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

WSW Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Slater & Gordon (UK) 1 Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

New Claims Direct Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

4 Legal Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

4 Legal Solutions Limited  United Kingdom 100 100 

Slater & Gordon (UK) LLP  United Kingdom 100 100 

Adroit Financial Planning Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

Pannone Trust Corporation Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

    

Entities collectively referred to as Slater Gordon Solutions:    

iSaaS Technology Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Compass Costs Consultants Ltd United Kingdom 100 - 

Intelligent Claims Management Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Mobile Doctors Group Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Medici Legal Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Mobile Doctors Solutions Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Mobile Doctors Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

MDL Medical Administration Ltd United Kingdom 100 - 

React & Recover Medical Group Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Recover Healthcare Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

React Medical Reporting Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

React Medical Management Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Medicalaw Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Abstract Legal Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Accident Advice Helpline Direct Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Legal Facilities Management & Services Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Fast Track PPI Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Access to Compensation Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Cab Claims Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Liberty Protect Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Claim4 Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Accident Advice Helpline Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Claim 103 Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Accident Advice Insurance Management Group Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Sentinel Alliance Limited  United Kingdom 100 - 

Accident Advice (IA) Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Quindell Legal Services Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Quindell ACH Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Group Management Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Access Legal Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Claims Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Media Solutions Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Medical Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Broker Services Ltd United Kingdom 100 - 

ACH Quote Me Cover Me Limited United Kingdom 100 - 
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Note 30: Group Entities (continued) 

 

 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

2015 
Ownership 

Interest (%) 

2014 
Ownership 

Interest (%) 

Controlled entities (continued)    

    

Entities collectively referred to as Slater Gordon Solutions (continued): 

Crusader Assistance Group Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Accident & Equity Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Crusader Group Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Centurion Uninsured Loss Recovery Services Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Equi-Medical Reports Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Equi Rehab Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Crusader Uninsured Loss Recovery Service Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Crusader Connect Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Quindell Business Process Services (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Colegate Vehicle Hire Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Colegate Accident Assistance Ltd United Kingdom 100 - 

Auto Indemnity (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100 - 

Overland Limited Malta 100 - 

Overland Health Limited Malta 100 - 

Overland Malta (Trading) Limited Malta 100 - 

Overland Legal Limited* Malta 75 - 
Property Home Buyers Limited* Malta 60 - 
    

*Entities under voluntary liquidation since November 2014.    
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Note 31:  Business Combinations  
2015: 

Acquisition of business – All States Legal Co Pty Ltd trading as Nowicki Carbone (provisionally accounted) 

On 31 October 2014, the Group acquired the business of Nowicki Carbone, a personal injury law firm based in 
Melbourne, Victoria. 

The strategic rationale for this business acquisition is: 

• to further expand the Group’s personal injury law practice; 

• synergies expected to be achieved as a result of combining the acquired business with the rest of the Group; and 

• to reaffirm the Group’s position as the leading law firm brand in the Australian consumer legal services market. 

The consideration transferred and the value of the assets and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition are as follows: 

 
Consideration 

         $’000 

Cash 10,000 
Net present value of total consideration  10,000 

 
Net assets acquired Fair Value 

 $’000 

Assets  
- Trade and other receivables 3,899 
- Work in progress 39,209 
- Plant and equipment 993 
- Intangible assets 57 
- Deferred taxation 770 
- Other assets  1,802 
Total assets acquired        46,730 
  
Liabilities  
- Bank overdraft (151) 
- Payables (3,683) 
- Provisions   (511) 
- Borrowings  (318) 
Total liabilities acquired  (4,663) 
Net assets acquired 42,067 
Gain from bargain purchase (32,067) 

 
The initial accounting for the acquisition of Nowicki Carbone has only been provisionally determined at the end of the 
reporting period. 

Since the acquisition date, Nowicki Carbone has contributed profit after tax of $9,981,000 in the period ended 30 June 
2015, which is included in the consolidated profit.  As at the date of reporting, it is not practical to disclose the revenue 
and profit after tax of the combined entity as if the acquisition took place on 1 July 2014 as the Group does not have 
access to audited financial information for the period prior to the date of acquisition prepared on the same Group 
accounting policies. 

Acquisition-related costs for this acquisition amounting to $270,000 have been excluded from the total consideration and 
have been recognised as an expense in the period ended 30 June 2015, within the ‘costs associated with acquisitions’ 
line item in the statement of profit or loss. 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
Acquisition of other businesses in Australia  

During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group acquired the following businesses in Australia: 

  Acquisition Date Business Location Business Type 

  31 July 2014 Fiocco Lawyers Perth, WA Personal Injury Law and Consumer Legal Services  
  5 September 2014 Biddle Lawyers Victoria Point, QLD Consumer Legal Services 
  12 September 2014 Cox West Lawyers Penrith, NSW Personal Injury Law and Consumer Legal Services 
  31 October 2014 Schultz Toomey O’Brien Sunshine Coast, QLD Personal Injury Law and Consumer Legal Services 
  28 November 2014 Bannister Law Sydney, NSW Personal Injury Law  

 

The strategic rationale for these business acquisitions is: 

• to further expand the Group’s personal injuries and consumer legal services practice;  

• synergies expected to be achieved as a result of combining the acquired businesses with the rest of the Group; and 

• to reaffirm the Group’s position as the leading law firm brand in the Australian consumer legal services market. 

The consideration transferred and the final value of the consolidated assets and liabilities assumed at the dates of 
acquisition are as follows: 

 
Consideration $’000 

Cash 19,165 
Equity issued (342,961 shares at $5.54 per share) 1,900 
Fair value of deferred consideration (cash) 4,653 
Net present value of total consideration  25,718 

 
Net assets acquired Fair Value 

 $’000 

Assets  
- Trade and other receivables 3,642 
- Work in progress 17,263 
- Plant and equipment 1,473 
- Intangibles 2,764 
- Deferred taxation 527 
- Other assets 523 
Total assets acquired 26,192 
  
Liabilities  
- Bank overdraft (53) 
- Payables (951) 
- Provisions (637) 
- Borrowings (1,194) 
Total liabilities acquired (2,835) 
Net assets acquired 23,357 
Goodwill on acquisition 2,361 

 

There were 342,961 shares issued as part of the consideration. The issue price of $5.54 is based on the volume 
weighted average price of ordinary shares on the 130 business days immediately preceding the completion date. 

The profit and loss results of the acquired businesses are not set out. It is not practicable to disclose the profit and loss 
results of the acquired businesses as they have been integrated into the existing operations and reporting structure of 
the Group.   

It is also not practical to disclose the revenue and profit after tax of the combined entities as if these acquisitions took 
place on 1 July 2014 as the Group does not have access to audited financial information for the period prior to the dates 
of acquisition prepared on the same Group accounting policies. 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
Acquisition of other businesses in Australia (continued)  

Acquisition-related costs for these acquisitions amounting to $235, 000 have been excluded from the total consideration 
and have been recognised as an expense in the period ended 30 June 2015, within the ‘costs associated with 
acquisitions’ line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

Acquisition of business – Slater Gordon Solutions (provisionally accounted) 

On 29 May 2015 the Group acquired SGS from Quindell Plc.  SGS is comprised of 52 legal entities incorporated in the 
UK and Malta as outlined in Note 30.   

The principal activities of SGS are: 

I. First notification of loss (“FNOL”) services for various partner organisations, including insurance brokers, insurers, 
motoring organisations and vehicle manufacturers.  These services include the facilitation of vehicle retrieval, 
repair and replacement vehicle hire for not at fault drivers; 

II. Conducting claims on behalf of not at fault parties to road traffic accidents (“RTA”), including credit hire, repair and 

personal injury claims. 

III. Conducting claims on behalf of individuals injured in the course of employment or in a public place (“EL/PL”).  
One species of employers’ liability claim that SGS is currently conducting are personal injury claims for a large 
group of people who allege noise induced hearing loss (“NIHL”) as a consequence of employment and who may 
be entitled to compensation as a result.  It is expected that these NIHL claims will be concluded in the next 1 to 3 

years; and 

IV. Services complementary to these claims processes, including: 

a. A medical reporting service for claimant lawyers; 

b. The assessment, triage and facilitation of rehabilitation services for not at fault parties injured in accidents; 
and 

c. A costing service for lawyers and law firms. 

The strategic rationale for this business acquisition is: 

• to become the leading personal injury group in the UK; and 

• access to a comprehensive platform of businesses, processes and infrastructure that augments the Group’s existing 
UK operation. 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
Acquisition of business – Slater Gordon Solutions (provisionally accounted) (continued) 

The provisional consideration transferred and the value of the consolidated assets and liabilities assumed at the dates of 
acquisition is as follows: 

 
Consideration        $’000 

Cash 1,294,695 
Net present value of total consideration  1,294,695 
 
Net assets acquired  Fair Value 

         $’000 
Assets  

- Cash and cash equivalents 5,129 

- Trade and other receivables 358,956 
- Work in progress 153,349 
- Plant and equipment 4,890 
- Intangible assets 71,299 

- Current tax assets 29,041 

- Deferred tax assets 44,720 

- Other assets 8,010 
Total assets acquired 675,394 
  

Liabilities  

- Short-term borrowings (10) 

- Current tax liability (14,080) 

- Payables (348,182) 
- Provisions (4,794) 

- Deferred tax liabilities (13,357) 
Total liabilities acquired (380,423) 
Net assets acquired 294,971 
Goodwill on acquisition 999,724 
 

The initial accounting for the acquisition of SGS has only been provisionally determined at the end of the reporting 
period. 

The key item that gave rise to the goodwill above is the capacity of SGS to underpin strategic growth of the personal 
injuries practice within the UK market. 

Since the acquisition date, SGS has contributed total revenue of $37,181,000 and loss after tax of $4,626,000 in the year 
ended 30 June 2015, which is included within the consolidated profit. As at the date of reporting, it is not practical to 
disclose the revenue and profit after tax of the combined entities as if the acquisition took place on 1 July 2014 as the 
Group does not have access to audited financial information for the period prior to the date of acquisition prepared on the 
same Group accounting policies. 

Acquisition-related costs for this acquisition amounting to $20,776,000 have been recognised as an expense in the year 
ended 30 June 2015, within the ‘costs associated with acquisitions’ line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

The acquisition of SGS has been provisionally accounted for at year end. Given the proximity of the acquisition date to 
the reporting date, the values of the acquired assets and liabilities of SGS are considered provisional. It is also not 
practical for the Group to determine an estimate of the noise-induced hearing loss (“NIHL”) claims asset and associated 
deferred consideration. These will be updated within 12 months post-acquisition in accordance with AASB 3 Business 
Combinations. The directors believe deferred consideration would be in the range of £25 million ($51 million) to £55 

million ($113 million). 

On 5 August 2015, Quindell Plc, the vendor of SGS, published qualified financial statements in which the current 
directors and auditors of Quindell Plc explained, inter alia, that relevant information relating to transactions entered into 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 

Acquisition of business – Slater Gordon Solutions (provisionally accounted) (continued) 

by the former directors that could impact on the accounting, intention, commercial purpose or value of certain 
transactions was not available to them.  

 On 5 August 2015 the Serious Fraud Office in the United Kingdom advised that it has opened a criminal investigation 
into the business and accounting practices of Quindell Plc.   

The acquisition of SGS was structured as an acquisition of the various entities rather than an acquisition of the common 
stock of Quindell Plc.  Moreover, Quindell Plc provided detailed warranties to the Company in relation to the operations 
of the assets comprising SGS.  Those warranties are secured by a Warranty Escrow account holding £50m.   

The Company is confident that it has no liability as a result of the matters described above. 

In the course of preparing these financial statements, the Directors have sought to identify, understand and properly 
account for all relevant prior transactions undertaken by entities within SGS. Despite reasonable inquiries, including of 
current directors of Quindell Plc, the Directors are unable to identify or rationalise every historic transaction undertaken 
by the former directors of the various entities and have made fair value adjustments as appropriate. The Directors 
believe that none of the known transactions relate to the fundamental business activities or economics of SGS and none 
of the known transactions are material in value or effect to the Company. 

Acquisition of other businesses in the UK (provisionally accounted) 

During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group acquired the following businesses in the UK: 

  Acquisition Date Business Location Business Type 

  5 September 2014 Flint Bishop LLP Derby, UK Personal Injury Law 
  8 May 2015 Leo Abse Cohen Wales, UK Personal Injury Law and Consumer Legal 

Services 
The strategic rationale for these business acquisitions is: 

• diversification of earnings through expansion of geographic coverage; and 

• to become a dominant law firm brand in the consumer legal services market in the UK. 

The provisional consideration transferred and the value of the consolidated assets and liabilities assumed at the dates of 
acquisition are as follows: 

 
Consideration        $’000 

Cash 13,136 
Fair value of deferred consideration (cash) 1,427 
Net present value of total consideration  14,563 

 
Net assets acquired  Fair Value 

         $’000 
Assets  
- Trade and other receivables 7,477 
- Work in progress 26,295 
- Plant and equipment 3,153 
- Other assets 850 
Total assets acquired 37,775 
  
Liabilities  
- Payables (4,499) 
- Provisions (1,140) 
Total liabilities acquired (5,639) 
Net assets acquired 32,136 
Gain from bargain purchase (17,573)* 

*The acquisition of Flint Bishop LLP resulted in goodwill of $30,000 and the acquisition of Leo Abse Cohen resulted in a gain from 

bargain purchase of $17,603,000.  
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
Acquisition of other businesses in the UK (provisionally accounted) (continued)  

The initial accounting for the acquisitions have only been provisionally determined at the end of the reporting period. 

The profit and loss results of the acquired businesses are not set out. It is not practicable to disclose the profit and loss 
results of the acquired businesses as they have been integrated into the existing operations and reporting structure of 
the Group.   

It is also not practical to disclose the revenue and profit after tax of the combined entities as if these acquisitions took 
place on 1 July 2014 as the Group does not have access to audited financial information for the period prior to the dates 
of acquisition prepared on the same Group accounting policies. 

Acquisition-related costs for these acquisitions amounting to $458,000 have been recognised as an expense in the year 
ended 30 June 2015, within the ‘costs associated with acquisitions’ line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

Acquisition of business – Walker Smith Way Limited (provisionally accounted) 

On 30 April 2015, the Group acquired the business of Walker Smith Way Limited, a personal injury and consumer law 
practice operating throughout Northern England and Wales.  

The strategic rationale for this business acquisition is: 

• diversification of earnings through expansion of geographic coverage; and 

• to become a dominant law firm brand in the consumer legal services market in the UK. 

The provisional consideration transferred and the value of the consolidated assets and liabilities assumed at the dates of 
acquisition are as follows: 

 
Consideration $’000 

Cash 5,204 
Cash settled vendor debt 6,427 
Fair value of deferred consideration (cash) 794 
Net present value of total consideration  12,425 

 
Net assets acquired Fair Value 

 $’000 
Assets  
- Cash and cash equivalents 2,174 
- Trade and other receivables 7,449 
- Work in progress 20,188 
- Plant and equipment 67 
Total assets acquired 29,878 
  
Liabilities  
- Payables (4,313) 
- Provisions (1,328) 
- Deferred tax liabilities (2,825) 
Total liabilities acquired (8,466) 
Net assets acquired 21,412 
Gain from bargain purchase (8,987) 

 

The initial accounting for the acquisition of WSW has only been provisionally determined at the end of the reporting 
period. 

The profit and loss result of the acquired business is not set out. It is not practicable to disclose the profit and loss results 
of the acquired businesses as it has been integrated into the existing operations and reporting structure of the Group.   

It is also not practical to disclose the revenue and profit after tax of the combined entities as if these acquisitions took 
place on 1 July 2014 as the Group does not have access to audited financial information for the period prior to the date 
of acquisition prepared on the same Group accounting policies. 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
Acquisition of business – Walker Smith Way Limited (provisionally accounted) (continued) 

Acquisition-related costs for this acquisition amounting to $230,000 has been recognised as an expense in the year 
ended 30 June 2015, within the ‘costs associated with acquisitions’ line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

2014: 

Acquisition of business – Gibson & Gibson 

On 1 August 2013, the Group acquired the business of Gibson & Gibson, a personal injuries law firm based in Perth, 
Western Australia, for a total consideration of $3,289,100.  Included in this amount is final goodwill of $1,636,314. 

Acquisition of business – Pannone Solicitors LLP (“Pannones”) and related entities 

Business combinations in the UK in 2014 have been restated for the effect of the application of the change in Group 
accounting policies discussed in Note 1. 

On 14 February 2014, the Group acquired the business of Pannone, a law firm based in Manchester, UK. On the same 
day the Group also acquired two related entities, Adroit Financial Planning Limited (“Adroit”) and Pannone Trust 
Corporation Limited (“Pannone Trust”). Adroit Financial Planning Limited is a financial planning business. Pannone Trust 
Corporation Limited is a dormant company, initially incorporated to act as the administrator of estates and other 
appointments having fiduciary responsibility associated with Adroit.   

The strategic rationale for these business acquisitions is: 

• diversification of earnings through expansion of geographic coverage; and 

• to become a dominant law firm brand in the consumer legal services market in the UK. 

The initial accounting for the acquisition had previously been provisionally determined. The necessary fair valuation of 
consideration and net assets acquired have now been finalised and are reflected in the amounts detailed below.   

The value of the assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition and converted using the acquisition date rate of exchange 
are as follows: 

Consideration 2014 
$’000          

Restated 

Cash 37,590 

Equity issued (37,718 shares at $4.42 per share) 167 

Fair value of deferred consideration (cash) 6,110 

Net present value of total consideration  43,867 

 
Net assets acquired Fair Value 

Assets  

- Cash and cash equivalents 518 

- Trade and other receivables 31,889 

- Work in progress 41,773 

- Plant and equipment 83 

- Intangible assets 1,110 

- Other assets 1,573 

Total assets acquired 76,946 

  
Liabilities  

- Payables (27,253) 

- Provisions (602) 

Total liabilities acquired (27,855) 

Net assets acquired 49,091 

Gain from bargain purchase (5,224) 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
Acquisition of business – Pannone Solicitors LLP (“Pannones”) and related entities (continued) 

There were 37,718 shares issued as part of the consideration. The issue price of $4.42 is based on the average of the 
volume weighted average price of ordinary shares on each of the 20 business days immediately preceding the 
completion date. 

In FY15 the Group entered into a variation deed with Pannones which reduces the deferred consideration payable for the 
acquisition. As a result the Group recognised a gain of $282,000 in the statement of profit or loss. 

Acquisition of business – Fentons Solicitors LLP (“Fentons”) 

The value of assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition and converted using the acquisition date rate of exchange are 
as follows: 

 
 

                        2014 
           $’000  

Restated 
Consideration  

Cash 43,266 

Net present value of total consideration  43,266 

 
Net assets acquired Fair Value 

Assets  

- Cash and cash equivalents 7 

- Trade and other receivables 43,768 

- Work in progress 54,686 

- Plant and equipment 1,518 

- Other assets 120 

Total assets acquired 100,099 

  

Liabilities  

- Payables (40,176) 

- Provisions (3,899) 

Total liabilities acquired (44,075) 

Net assets acquired 56,024 

Gain from bargain purchase (12,758) 

 
Acquisition of other businesses in the UK 

The Group acquired the following other businesses in the UK in 2014: 

 Acquisition Date Company Location Business Type Acquired 

 16 August 2013 Taylor Vinters LLP Cambridge, UK Personal Injury 
Law 

Personal Injuries 
business operations and 
assets 

 30 August 2013 Goodmans Law Limited Liverpool, UK Personal Injury 
Law 

Business operations and 
assets 

 29 November 2013 John Pickering & Partners LLP Halifax, UK Personal Injury 
Law 

Business operations and 
assets 

 4 December 2013 Chadwick Lawrence LLP Yorkshire, UK Personal Injury 
Law 

Personal Injuries 
business operations and 
assets 
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Note 31:  Business Combinations (continued) 
 2014 

$’000       
Restated 

Consideration  

Cash 16,950 

Equity issued (110,808 shares at $3.07 per share) 340 

Fair value of deferred consideration (cash) 9,681 

Net present value of total consideration  26,971 

 
Net assets acquired Fair Value 

Assets  

- Trade and other receivables 9,665 

- Work in progress 15,370 

- Plant and equipment  9 

- Other assets 65 

Total assets acquired 25,109 

  

Liabilities  

- Payables (5,488) 

- Provisions (849) 

Total liabilities acquired (6,337) 

Net assets acquired 18,772 

Goodwill 8,199* 

*Split as follows 

 

Taylor Vinters LLP 9,011 

Goodmans Law Limited (1,561) 

John Pickering & Partners LLP (219) 

Chadwick Lawrence LLP 968 
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Note 32:  Financial Risk Management 
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks comprising: 

i) Credit risk 

ii) Liquidity risk 

iii) Fair values 

iv) Interest rate risk 

v) Foreign exchange risk 

The board of directors has overall responsibility for identifying and managing operational and financial risks. 

The categories of financial instruments are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 
$’000 $’000 

Restated 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 96,985 25,270 

Loans and receivables 303,034 103,158 

Disbursements 396,583 126,210 

VCR Share Loans receivable 8,325 11,844 

 804,927 266,482 

Financial liabilities   

Payables 639,643 197,912 
Borrowings 720,353 126,331 

Other financial liabilities 10,985 10,103 

Derivatives 1,621 1,020 

 1,372,602 335,366 
 

i) Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation. The main exposure to credit risk in the Group is represented by the receivables (debtors and 
disbursements) owing to the Group. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at the end of the reporting 
period of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions against those assets, 
as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. 

Credit risk – Slater Gordon Solutions (motor services) 

Debts are almost exclusively due from insurance companies.  The capitalisation of insurers is regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority in the UK. The insurance industry operates a policy holders’ protection scheme to alleviate the impact 
of the failure of an insurance company. 

Credit risk is therefore spread across major UK based motor insurers in proportion to their respective share of the 
market. No credit insurance is taken out given the regulated nature of these entities. 

No interest is charged on the receivables balances however late penalty payments become payable at certain dates 
under the Association of British Insurers’ General Terms of Agreement. SGS does not hold any collateral over these 
balances nor has the legal right of offset with any amounts owed by SGS to the receivables counterparty. 

There is also credit risk associated with unrendered disbursements and trade receivables. Once client matters are billed, 
a significant portion of receivables related to the personal injuries business are considered low risk. This is because 
these receivables are collected directly from settlements paid by insurers into trust funds held on behalf of the Group’s 
clients. As at 30 June 2015, approximately 38% of trade receivables relate to the personal injury law business. 
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Note 32:  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
i) Credit risk (continued) 

For the non-personal injury law business, the Group is exposed to the credit risk associated with the client’s ability to 
meet their obligations under the fee and retainer agreement. The Group minimises the concentration of this credit risk by 
undertaking transactions with a large number of clients.   

Management of credit risk 

The Group actively manages its credit risk by: 

• assessing the capability of a client to meet its obligations under the fee and retainer agreement; 

• periodically reviewing the reasons for bad debt write-offs in order to improve the future decision making process; 

• maintaining an adequate provision against the future recovery of debtors and disbursements; 

• including in practitioner’s Key Performance Indicators (“KPI’s”) measurements in respect of debtor levels, recovery 
and investment in disbursements; 

• providing ongoing training to staff in the management of their personal and practice group debtor portfolios; and 

• where necessary, pursuing the recovery of debts owed to the Group through external mercantile agents and the 
courts. 

At 30 June 2015, the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables by segment was as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 $’000 $’000           

   

Australia 111,151 96,249 
UK 213,947 133,119 

SGS 374,519 - 

 699,617 229,368 

 
Due to the nature of the “No Win No Fee” arrangements applicable to the majority of the legal matters managed by the 
Group an increase in the required processing time between initiation and settlement and an increase in the ageing of 
receivables, particularly disbursements, does not always increase the associated credit risk. 

Management performs periodic assessment of the recoverability of receivables, and provisions are calculated based on 
historical write-offs of the receivables as well as any known circumstances relating to the matters in progress. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $96,985,000 at 30 June 2015 (30 June 2014: $25,270,000). The credit risk 
associated with cash and cash equivalents are considered as minimal as the cash and cash equivalents are held with 
reputable financial institutions in Australia and UK.  

ii) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. 

Management of liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate borrowing facilities are 
maintained. Refer to the statement of cash flows and Note 23: Cash Flow Information, for further information on the 
historical cash flows and the current borrowing facilities below. 

KPIs are set for practitioners relating to budgeted fee events, which are closely monitored by senior management. 
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Note 32:  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The Group actively reviews its funding position to ensure the available facilities are adequate to meet its current and 
anticipated needs.         

 2015 2014 

 $’000 $’000 

Total banking facilities   

Bank overdrafts  7,053 5,000 

Cash advance facility 859,688 200,000 

Other sundry facilities 27,736 15,640 

Total credit facilities 894,477 220,640 

   

Amount utilised  (720,049) (125,657) 

Unused bank facilities 174,428 94,983 

 

Bank overdrafts 

Bank overdraft facilities are arranged with Westpac and Royal Bank of Scotland (National Westminster Bank) with the 
general terms and conditions being set and agreed to annually. The current facilities are $5,000,000 and £1,000,000 
respectively (2014: $5,000,000). Interest rates are variable and subject to adjustment. 

Cash advance and equipment finance facility 

The Group entered into a new multicurrency (AUD/GBP) syndicated bank facility in June 2015 with the following 
structure and maturity profile: 

• a GBP 157,500,000 revolving loan facility. This facility expires in June 2018 and interest is charged on the loans at 
LIBOR plus an agreed margin; 

• a GBP 157,500,000 revolving loan facility. This facility expires in June 2020 and interest is charged on the loans at 
LIBOR plus an agreed margin; 

• a GBP 60,000,000 revolving loan facility, bank guarantee facility and/or letter of credit. This facility expires in June 
2018 and interest is charged on the loans at LIBOR plus an agreed margin; 

• an AUD 45,000,000 revolving loan facility. This facility expires in June 2018 and interest is charged on the loans at 
BBSY Bid plus an agreed margin; and 

• an AUD 45,000,000 revolving loan facility. This facility expires in June 2020 and interest is charged on the loans at 
BBSY Bid plus an agreed margin. 

The proceeds of the loan facilities have been used to settle existing finance debt, general corporate purposes, the SGS 
acquisitions and future acquisitions. The bank guarantee facility/letter of credit will be used to meet the day to day 
working capital requirements, corporate purposes and future acquisitions.  
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Note 32:  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

Maturity analysis 

The table below represents the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments and management’s 
expectation for settlement of undiscounted maturities. 

 
< 12 

Months 1-5 years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2015     
Non-derivative financial liabilities     

Payables 636,523 3,120 639,643 639,643 

Borrowings 3,753 716,600 720,353 720,353 

Other current liabilities 10,985 - 10,985 10,985 

Financial liability maturities 651,261 719,720 1,370,981 1,370,981 

     
2014 
Restated     

Non-derivative financial liabilities     

Payables 190,527 7,385 197,912 197,912 

Borrowings 9,077 117,254 126,331 126,331 

Other current liabilities 10,103 - 10,103 10,103 

Financial liability maturities 209,707 124,639 334,346 334,346 
 

Refer to Note 32 (iv) for the maturity analysis of interest rate swaps.  

iii) Fair values  

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value approximates their carrying amounts 
as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.  

Management of fair value risk in interest rate swaps 

The Group measures its interest rate swaps at fair value. These fair values are based on level 2 fair value 
measurements, as defined in the fair value hierarchy in AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement with reference to market data 
which can be used to estimate future cash flows and discount them to present value. Management’s aim is to use and 
source this data consistently from period to period. 
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Note 32:  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
iv) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates. 

The Group's exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of non-derivative financial assets and financial 
liabilities both recognised and unrecognised at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

Financial Instruments 
Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Variable interest 
rate 

Fixed interest rate Total 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

   
$’000 $’000 

Restated 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000   

Restated 
(i) Financial assets           
Cash 0.09% 0.88% - - 96,985 25,270 - - 96,985 25,270 

Trade debtors - - 296,946             102,859 - - - - 296,946 102,859 

Disbursements - - 396,583              126,210 - - - - 396,583              126,210 

Other receivables - - 6,088                  299 - - - - 6,088 299 

VCR share loans 
receivable - - 

                  
8,325  11,844 - - - - 8,325 11,844 

Total financial assets   707,942 241,212 96,985 25,270 - - 804, 927 266,482 

(ii) Financial liabilities           

Trade creditors and 
accruals - - 281,170 74,792 - - - - 281,170 74,792 

Legal creditors  - - 336,588 101,554 - - - - 336,588 101,554 
Non-interest bearing 
vendor liabilities – 
acquisitions - - 21,885 21,566 - - - - 21,885 21,566 

Other current liabilities 4.45% 4.45% - - 10,985 10,103 - - 10,985 10,103 

Hire purchase liability 6.04% 7.42% - - - - 9,429 6,418 9,429 6,418 

Bills of exchange – fixed 
rate 2.26% 2.49% - - - - 96,314 80,094 96,314 80,094 

Bills of exchange – 
variable rate 2.17% 3.02% - - 614,610 39,819 - - 614,610 39,819 

Total financial liabilities   639,643 197,912 625,595 49,922 105,743 86,512 1,370,981 334,346 
 

Interest rate swaps  

Interest rate swap transactions are entered into by the Group to exchange variable and fixed interest payment obligations 
to protect long-term borrowings from the risk of increasing interest rates. The Group uses swap contracts to maintain a 
designated proportion of fixed to floating debt. 

The notional principal amounts of the swap contracts approximate 14% (2014: 67%) of the Group’s outstanding 
borrowings on the cash advance facility (excluding the working capital facility) at 30 June 2015. The net interest 
payments or receipt settlements of the swap contracts are matched to the maturity of the cash advance they are 
hedging. The net settlement amounts are brought into account as an adjustment to interest expense. At the end of the 
reporting period, the details of outstanding contracts, all of which are to receive floating/pay-fixed interest rate swaps, are 
as follows: 
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Note 32:  Financial Risk Management (continued) 
iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Maturity of notional amounts 
Effective average 
fixed interest rate 

payable 
Notional principal value 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

    
0 to 2 years 2.23% 4.18%                35,534  17,500 
2 to 5 years 2.27% 2.02%                60,801  62,594 

  96,335 80,094 

 

The net effective variable interest rate borrowings (i.e. unhedged debt) expose the Group to interest rate risk which will 
impact future cash flows and interest charges and are indicated by the following interest rate financial liabilities: 

  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Floating rate instruments:    

Unhedged cash advances/bills of exchanges  614,610 39,819 

  614,610 39,819 

 

Interest rate swaps are measured at fair value with gains and losses taken to the cash flow hedge reserve until such time 
as the profit or loss associated with the hedged risk is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. Given the matching of the hedge settlements with the payment of interest expense on the hedged borrowings, 
the balance in the reserve attributable to interest rate swaps is generally minimal. 

Interest rate sensitivity  

If interest rates were to increase/decrease by 100 basis points from rates used to determine fair values as at the end of 
the reporting period, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the impact on 
profit for the year and equity is as follows: 

  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

+/- 100 basis points:    

Impact on profit after tax  - - 

Impact on equity  3,098 2,371 

 

v) Foreign exchange risk 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on services income, expenses, receivables and borrowings that are denominated 
in a currency other than respective functional currencies of the group entities. The major functional currencies are the 
Australian Dollar (AUD) and Sterling (GBP). 

In relation to recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional currency, the 
group hedges all foreign currency exposures via a natural hedge. 

Foreign currency net investment translation risk relating to the acquisition of Slater Gordon Solutions is partially hedged 
through borrowings denominated in GBP, resulting in an overall reduction in the net assets that are translated. The 
remaining translation exposure is not hedged.  

The Group has no significant exposures to currency risk other than translation of its foreign subsidiaries in the United 
Kingdom (UK).   Any impacts on the balances relating to Slater and Gordon subsidiaries in the UK as a result of 
movements in the foreign exchange rate are recorded in other comprehensive income as foreign currency translation 
reserve. Refer to Note 1(s). 

The Group has no other significant exposures to foreign exchange risk. 
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Note 33:  Fair Value Measurements 
i) Fair value hierarchy 

Refer to Note 2 (d) for discussion on the fair value hierarchy. 

 
30 June 2015 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

 
Total 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial liabilities     
Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps - 1,621 - 1,621 
Contingent consideration - - 6,090 6,090 

 - 1,621 6,090 7,711 

 
30 June 2014  
Restated 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial liabilities     
Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps - 1,020 - 1,020 

Contingent consideration - - 12,633 12,633 

 - 1,020 12,633 13,653 

 
 
30 June 2015 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

 
Total 

Financial instruments not measured at fair value $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets     
Trade and other receivables - - 303,034 303,034 

Total  - - 303,034 303,034 

     
Financial liabilities     

Trade Creditors* - - 98,558 98,558 

Legal Creditors - - 336,588 336,588 

Vendor Liabilities – acquisitions  - - 21,886 21,886 

Borrowings - 710,924 - 710,924 

Finance Lease Liability  9,429 - 9,429 

Total  - 720,353 457,032 1,177,385 

 
 
30 June 2014  
Restated 

 
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

 
Total 

Financial instruments not measured at fair value $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets     
Trade and other receivables - - 103,158 103,158 

Total  - - 103,158 103,158 

     
Financial liabilities     

Trade Creditors* - - 11,914 11,914 

Legal Creditors - - 101,554 101,554 

Vendor Liabilities – acquisitions  -  21,566 21,566 

Borrowings - 119,913 - 119,913 

Finance Lease Liability  6,418 - 6,418 

Total  - 126,331 135,034 261,365 
     
*Accrued expenses that are not financial liabilities are excluded 
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Note 33:  Fair Value Measurements (continued) 
ii) Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 and 3 fair value measurements 

The fair value of the interest rate swaps is measured with reference to market data which can be used to estimate future 
cash flows. The key input into this valuation is the interest rate swap revaluation statement as provided by Westpac 
Banking Corporation and National Australia Bank. 

The fair value of contingent consideration payable in a business combination is measured with reference to current fee 
and performance forecasts which can be used to estimate future cash flows. The key inputs into this valuation are the 
estimated future cash flows and the average discount rate of 9.2% used to determine the present value the future cash 
flows. 

iii) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value movements 

   2015 2014 
   $’000 $’000 

Restated 

Contingent Consideration 

Opening balance 
   

7,927 
 

7,976 
Acquisitions   4,185 6,794 
Payments   (1,865) (4,947) 
Adjustment to contingent consideration   (4,983) (2,668) 
Interest    378 930 
Exchange differences   447 (158) 

Closing balance   6,089 7,927 

 
There has been no change in the range of undiscounted contingent consideration outcomes during the year. 

iv) Sensitivity analysis for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements 

A reasonable movement in the unobservable inputs would not significantly impact the fair value of contingent 
consideration as at the end of the reporting period and therefore not impact profit after tax and equity. 
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Note 34:  Prior Period Error  
The Group has identified two errors in the method used to report receipts from customers and payments to suppliers and 
employees by the UK business during the current reporting period: 

• From the initial date of acquisition of Russell Jones and Walker LLP in the year ended 30 June 2012 until the period 
ended 31 December 2013, the UK business reported receipts from customers on a ‘gross’ rather than a ‘net’ basis in 
accordance with Group Reporting Policy. This effect was wholly offset by the same amount being added to the 
calculation of total payments to suppliers and employees. The amounts represented customer disbursements and 
related Value Added Tax (VAT). Net cash derived from operating activities in all periods was unaffected and remains 
as reported. 

• In the 30 June 2014 and 31 December 2014 financial statements UK VAT is duplicated in receipts from customers. 
This effect was wholly offset by the same amount being included in total payments to suppliers and employees. The 
cause of this was an arithmetic error in the consolidation spread sheet model operated in the Company’s UK 
business at that time. Net cash derived from operating activities in all periods was unaffected and remains as 
reported. 

The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior periods, as 
follows: 

Previous Year ended 30 

June 2012 

Year ended 30 

June 2013 

Year ended 30 

June 2014 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash flow from operating activities    

Receipts from customers 202,929 324,279 442,609 

Payments to suppliers and employees (182,110) (285,148) (375,225) 

Interest received 357 281 401 

Borrowing costs (5,374) (6,158) (5,344) 

Income tax (paid)/refunded 157 (537) (8,006) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 15,959 32,717 54,435 

Restated Year ended 30 

June 2012 

Year ended 30 

June 2013 

Year ended 30 

June 2014 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash flow from operating activities    

Receipts from customers 199,813 288,719 410,142 

Payments to suppliers and employees (178,994) (249,588) (342,758) 

Interest received 357 281 401 

Borrowing costs (5,374) (6,158) (5,344) 

Income tax (paid)/refunded 157 (537) (8,006) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 15,959 32,717 54,435 

    

Difference in net cash provided by operating activities - - - 

    

The error does not have an impact on the Company’s retained earnings, profit or loss previously reported earnings per 
share nor the cash and cash equivalent balances in the prior periods.  

Note 35:  Subsequent Events 
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, all unvested VCR shares at 30 June 2015 have either vested and converted 
into ordinary shares (subject to disposal restrictions) or have been approved for redemption. Other than the 
aforementioned, there have not been any matters or circumstances that have significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the results reported in the financial statements. 

Note 36:  Deed of Cross Guarantee    
Slater and Gordon Limited, Trilby Misso Lawyers Limited and Slater & Gordon Lawyers NSW Pty Ltd are parties to a 
deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others. By entering into the deed, the 
wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under 
Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position, comprising the Company and 
controlled entities subject to the deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the deed of cross guarantee is 
set out as follows: 
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Note 36:  Deed of Cross Guarantee (continued) 

 

 2015 
$’000 

   2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income    

Revenue  270,958 226,778 

Finance costs  (6,172) (5,138) 

Other expenses  (217,273) (171,820) 
Profit before income tax expense  47,513 49,820 
Income tax expense  (14,201) (16,408) 

Profit for the year  33,312 33,412 
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges and foreign currency translation, net 
of tax  11,303 4,758 

Total comprehensive income for the year  44,615 38,170 
    

Statement of Financial Position    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  12,923 11,620 

Receivables  198,129 192,813 

Work in progress  177,535 174,150 

Other current assets  7,598 5,323 

Total current assets  396,185 383,906 

Non-current assets    

Plant and equipment  10,657 7,611 

Receivables  11,947 13,095 

Work in progress  131,993 108,685 

Intangible assets   57,788 58,702 

Investment in subsidiary  945,640 7,678 

Other non-current assets  15,179 11,844 

Deferred tax assets  28,932 14,783 

Total non-current assets  1,202,136 222,398 
Total assets  1,598,321 606,304 
Current liabilities    

Payables  71,333 62,777 

Short term borrowings  2,510 1,351 

Current tax liabilities   4,564 854 

Provisions  26,757 16,137 

Total current liabilities  105,164 81,119 
Non-current liabilities    

Payables  3,123 2,765 

Long term borrowings  84,647 44,298 

Deferred tax liabilities  115,108 102,152 

Derivative financial instruments  1,257 759 

Provision  2,921 3,034 

Total non-current liabilities  207,056 153,008 

Total liabilities  312,220 234,127 
Net assets  1,286,101 372,177 
    

Equity    

Contributed equity  1,098,345 217,049 

Reserves  26,261 9,326 

Retained profits  161,495 145,802 

Total equity  1,286,101 372,177 
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Note 37:  Parent Entity Disclosures 
As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 30 June 2015 the parent entity of the Group was Slater and Gordon 
Limited. 

 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

Restated 

Results of parent entity    

Profit for the year  65,128 36,054 
Other comprehensive income  11,303 4,758 

Total comprehensive income for the year  76,431 40,812 
 

There has been a recharge by the parent entity of management and associated services and interest expense to the 
subsidiary entities. 

Financial position for the parent entity at year end    

Current assets  374,540 332,308 
Non-current assets  1,226,906 236,398 

Total assets  1,601,446 568,706 
    

Current liabilities  101,888 75,551 

Non-current liabilities  201,369 140,644 

Total liabilities  303,257 216,195 
    

Total equity of the parent company comprising of    

Contributed equity   1,098,345 217,049 

Reserves  26,261 9,382 

Retained profits   173,583 126,080 

Total Equity  1,298,189 352,511 
 

Other commitments and contingencies 

The Company has agreements with third party disbursement funders, ASK Funding Limited and Equal Access Funding 
Proprietary Limited (“the existing Funders”), to provide financial guarantees to the funders with respect to disbursement 
funding borrowings to the Group’s clients. The nature of this agreement is that the funders will fund disbursements in 
respect of individual matters and will be reimbursed out of any settlement proceeds on the matter. The Group has 
provided a financial guarantee for the repayment of the clients’ obligations to the funders.   

Since 30 June 2014, the Company ended its arrangement with ASK Funding and settled all disbursements previously 
funded by ASK Funding and recognised them as part of the receivables balance at 30 June 2015. The total amount 
funded by the funders (existing and assumed) to the Company’s clients at 30 June 2015 is $13,603,000 (30 June 2014: 
$10,591,000). The maximum exposure of the Company at 30 June 2015 is $13,603,000 (30 June 2014: $10,591,000) if 
the disbursements on client matters are not recovered from any other party. 

  
2015 

$’000 
2014 

$’000 

Operating lease commitments    

Non-cancellable operating leases (including rental of office space) contracted but not capitalised in the parent financial 

statements. 

Within one year  12,636 11,986 

One year or later and not later than five years  30,140 31,775 

Greater than five years  6,712 6,342 

  49,488 50,103 
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The directors declare that the financial statements and notes set out on pages 66 to 135 and the directors’ report are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 

(a) Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements; 

(b) As stated in Note 1, the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; 

(c) Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2015 and of its 
performance as represented by the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows, for the year 
ended on that date. 

In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that 

• Slater and Gordon Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

• the Company and the group entities identified in Note 36 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which 
they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those group 
entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418. 

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made by the chief executive officer and 
chief financial officer to the directors in accordance with sections 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2015. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

   

John Skippen 

Chair 

Melbourne 

29 September 2015 

 Andrew Grech 

Group Managing Director 
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SLATER AND GORDON LIMITED  
ABN 93 097 297 400 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF 

SLATER AND GORDON LIMITED  

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Slater and Gordon Limited and controlled entities, 
which  comprises  the  consolidated  statement  of  financial  position  as  at  30  June  2015,  the  consolidated 
statement  of  comprehensive  income,  consolidated  statement  of  changes  in  equity  and  consolidated 
statement  of  cash  flows  for  the  year  then ended,  notes  comprising  a  summary of  significant  accounting 
policies  and  other  explanatory  information,  and  the  directors’  declaration  of  the  consolidated  entity 
comprising  the company and  the entities  it  controlled at  the year's end or  from time  to  time during  the 
financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, 
the  directors  also  state,  in  accordance  with  Accounting  Standard  AASB  101  Presentation  of  Financial 
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards  require  that we comply with  relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation of the financial 
report  that  gives  a  true  and  fair  view  in  order  to  design  audit  procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the 
circumstances,  but  not  for  the  purpose  of  expressing  an  opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  company's 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

Opinion 

In our opinion:  

(a)  the financial report of Slater and Gordon Limited and controlled entities is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2015 and 
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b)  the consolidated financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 35 to 63 of the directors' report for the year 
ended 30 June 2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of 
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is  to express an opinion on  the Remuneration Report, based on our audit  conducted  in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Slater and Gordon Limited and controlled entities for the year 
ended complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

A R FITZPATRICK PITCHER PARTNERS 
Partner Melbourne 

29 September 2015 
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In accordance with the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules, the Directors provide the following information 
as at 14 September 2015. 

a). Distribution of shareholders and option holders. 

Holding  Number of Ordinary Shareholders VCR Shares Performance Rights 

1 - 1,000 5,267 - - 
1,001 - 5,000 9,354 1 16 
5,001 - 10,000 2,926 - 19 
10,001 - 100,000 2,220 19 19 
100,001 - Over 166 - - 

  19,933 20 54 

 
There are 275 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel (i.e. less than $500 per parcel of shares). 

b). Twenty largest shareholders 

  
Shareholder  

  Number of 
Shares held    

     % 
Held 

1 National Nominees Limited 50,996,052 14.54 

2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 49,347,216 14.07 

3 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 47,091,870 13.43 

4 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 11,051,410 3.15 

5 BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (DRP) 10,930,978 3.12 

6 Mr Andrew Grech 6,383,238 1.82 

7 Mr Ken Fowlie 5,096,221 1.45 

8 Mr Hayden Stephens 4,255,115 1.21 

9 Ms Cath Evans 3,981,433 1.14 

10 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (Colonial First State Inv A/C) 3,875,618 1.11 

11 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 3 3,203,242 0.91 

12 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 3,037,159 0.87 

13 Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 2,232,958 0.64 

14 Wildflower Investments Pty Ltd (Evans Family S/F A/C) 2,060,545 0.59 

15 
 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited (Nt-Comnwlth Super Corp 
A/C) 1,752,472 0.50 

16 Deansgate 123 LLP 1,516,015 0.43 

17 AMP Life Limited 1,507,386 0.43 

18 Bond Street Custodians Limited (Cockej - F01832 A/C) 1,390,267 0.40 

19 Joeman Holdings Pty Ltd 1,240,170 0.35 

20 Custodial Services Limited (Beneficiaries Holding A/C) 1,233,844 0.35 

  212,183,209 60.51 

 
c). Substantial shareholders 

A substantial shareholder is one who has a relevant interest in 5 per cent or more of the total issued shares in the 
Company. Following are the substantial shareholders in the Company based on notifications provided to the Company 
under the Corporations Act 2001: 

 Ordinary Shares 
Shareholder Number % * 

National Australia Bank Limited and its Associated Companies 24,345,327 6.94 
UBS Group AG and its related bodies corporate 25,936,975  7.40 

* Percentage of shares held based on total issued capital of the Company at the time a substantial shareholder notice was provided to 

the Company. 

d). Voting rights 

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 

VCR shares and performance rights do not carry any voting rights. 
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Directors  Auditors  Share/Security Registers 
John Skippen, Chair  Pitcher Partners  The Registrar 
Andrew Grech, Group Managing Director  Level 19  Computershare Investor  
Ian Court  15 William Street  Services Pty Ltd 
Ken Fowlie   Melbourne Victoria 3000  Yarra Falls  
Erica Lane    452 Johnston Street 

Rhonda O’Donnell    Abbotsford Victoria 3067 
     
Company Secretaries  Bankers  GPO Box 2975 
Wayne Brown  Westpac Banking   Melbourne Victoria 3001 
Kirsten Morrison  Corporation   
  Level 7  Telephone 
Registered Office and  150 Collins Street  Toll Free 1300 850 505  
Corporate Office  Melbourne Victoria 3000  (Australia) 
Level 12    +61 3 9415 4000 
485 La Trobe Street  National Australia Bank  (Overseas) 
Melbourne Victoria 3000  Level 30   
Telephone: (03) 9602 6888  500 Bourke Street  Investor Centre Website: 
Facsimile: (03) 9600 0290  Melbourne Victoria 3000  www.computershare.com.au 
     
Company Website  Solicitors  Email:  
www.slatergordon.com.au  Arnold Bloch Leibler  web.queries@computershare.com.au 
  Level 21   
  333 Collins Street   
  Melbourne Victoria 3000   
     
Company Numbers  Securities Exchange Listing   
ACN 097 297 400  Slater and Gordon Limited   
ABN 93 097 297 400  shares are listed on the    
  Australian Securities    
  Exchange. The Home Exchange 

is Melbourne 
  

  ASX Code: SGH   
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